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forge resources has enjoyed a year of significant 
achievement, laying strong foundations for future growth. 

our strategy of growth through acquisition, partnered with 
successful capital raising, has lead us to take advantage 
of opportunities to diversify our assets, building a solid 
foundation for future growth and development. 

Forge Resources is well on track to building a world 
class resources company for the benefit of shareholders, 
employees and communities around us.
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caPital 
raiSing

$52.5m
Completed two capital 
raisings totaling $52.5 
million comprising of 
both debt and equity.

Balla Balla 
acquiSition

$39.5m
Acquisition of the 
Balla Balla VTi 
Magnetite Project was 
completed, and 25% 
subsequently sold to 
Todd Corporation, our 
Joint Venture partner.

weSt eucla 
farm-in

470mt
Defined a maiden 
JORC compliant 
heavy mineral 
resource of 470 million 
tonnes at 4.6% heavy 
minerals as part of the 
farm‑in expenditure for 
West Eucla.

todd 
corPoration

19.9%
Cornerstone 
strategic investor 
and partnership 
established with a 
subsidiary of Todd 
Corporation becoming 
19.9% shareholder 
of Forge Resources. 

marKet 
caPitaliSation 

+230%
Over the last twelve 
months the market 
capitalisation of Forge has 
increased by over 230%.
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Forge is a company proud of its ambition to grow. Despite the current 
global economic turmoil we believe that worldwide demand for metals 
will continue to grow, accompanied by an increasing difficulty in 
accessing new supply. 

We therefore have no difficulty envisaging a not-too-distant future 
where commodity prices enable resource owners to be well placed 
to serve their various constituencies, from shareholders to the 
communities in which they operate.

During the past year our company has taken critical foundation steps 
along its journey to become a major diversified metals company. Capable 
and experienced key management have been put in place, in particular 
the appointment of Dr. Matthew James as Managing Director. Key 
management processes have been established to identify the way we 
will operate at Forge. These processes are designed to ensure integrity 
and diligence in evaluating all risks associated with the many projects 
we evaluate as well as careful thoroughness in reviewing and optimising 
those we chose to move forward, in particular the Balla Balla VTi 
Magnetite project and the West Eucla Basin Mineral Sands project.

Our ability to move projects forward only exists if we have confidence 
and trust from shareholders and industry partners. At Forge we 
prioritise building open, trusting and mutually rewarding relationships. 
A key highlight of our relationship building this year has been the 
development of a partnership with Todd Corporation (Todd), the 
private company owned by the Todd family of New Zealand. Todd is 
a resources-focused company mainly invested in oil and gas. Being 
a private multi-generational family owned company Todd thinks 
in long-term time horizons, viewing the world with a very strong 
values-oriented perspective. We are deeply cognisant of the trust 
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 It has been a year of significant 
achievement for Forge 
Resources. We have secured 
a core management team 
with experience and capacity, 
developed a number of 
foundation relationships and 
secured exciting mineral assets, 
all of which underwrite great 
confidence in our future.”

a year of 
achievement.“
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that Todd has invested in the Forge team 
to jointly develop long-term growth in the 
minerals sector, and believe we have found 
in Todd not only a supportive partner but an 
example of the values and culture we wish 
to enshrine in our company’s future. 

Todd invested $10 million in Forge to 
become our second largest shareholder, 
as well as facilitating the purchase by Forge 
of the Balla Balla asset through a loan to 
Forge and the direct acquisition of 25% of 
the Balla Balla asset. Importantly, Michael 
Wolley of Todd has been appointed to the 
Board of Forge, deepening not only the 
relationship with Todd, but also bringing 
his experience in the resources sector to 
the Board. We look forward to furthering 
our relationship with Todd.

The Balla Balla VTi Magnetite project is now 
the most significant asset for our future 
growth. It is a strategically well-positioned 
asset, and perhaps the leading asset of 
its type globally. Importantly it contains 
not only iron ore, but also vanadium and 
titanium. All of these metals have a strong 
future as an increasing portion of the 
world’s population seek access to a basic 
standard of living which shall draw upon 
the world’s supply of resources. Mineral 
resources will be required to be produced 
and used in a more sustainable manner. 
Both vanadium and titanium are set to play 
an important role in improving the quality 
and strength of steel, enabling less steel 
to perform the same function. China has 
recently implemented regulations to increase 
the quality of certain steel products, which 
will require the steel mills to increase 
consumption of micro-alloying elements 
such as vanadium and titanium. Titanium’s 
main application is as a pigment for paint 
and ceramics, consumption of which is 
directly related to personal wealth and 
standard of living.

Balla Balla is an advanced project, with 
a definitive feasibility study complete and 
excellent access to infrastructure. We 
are now optimising the project and have 
had good results in reducing the capital 
costs. In particular we have advanced our 
trans-shipment option for barging our product 
to ships from a facility to be constructed 
very close to the mine site, taking strong 
advantage of its location on the coast. 

Our job is to ensure that we lock in the 
best available markets for all the Balla Balla 
products, and then fund the project. Our 
senior management is well experienced with 
such challenges and we are confident this 
will be an important project for our future.

In addition during the year we began 
farming into the exciting West Eucla 
Mineral Sands deposit. It is now evident 
that our tenements host a very large-scale 
relatively high-grade ilmenite Resource. 
There is further work to do, but we are very 
confident that this asset is well positioned 
to become a major mineral sands project in 
the near future. We will continue to enhance 
our understanding of the project and fully 
expect to exercise all of our farm-in rights 
to become the full project owner.

This is an exciting but challenging time 
to be in the minerals industry. We have 
established in this last year crucial 
cornerstone relationships, capacity inside 
our company and exciting mineral assets 
that certainly give me confidence in our 
future. I would like to thank all my fellow 
board members for their great contribution. 
The team led by Dr. Matthew James has 
worked hard to get us the foundation we 
have today and deserve strong thanks. I 
also want to recognise all those groups that 
have quietly supported us and worked with 
us through the last year. We have achieved 
a great deal. We have set a sound platform 
for the year ahead, and I look forward to the 
harvesting of all this work in the near future.

outlooK 
We have set a sound 
platform for the year 
ahead. the outlook is 
positive as a number of 
milestones are reached 
which shall progress 
Forge Resources along 
its journey to become 
a major diversified 
metals company.

The Balla Balla VTi Magnetite project 
is being progressed with integrity 
and diligence, with particular focus 
on opening up the export path via 
advanced our trans‑shipment option. 
Work shall continue on the West 
Eucla Heavy Minerals Sand project 
as the company moves to complete 
the farm‑in milestone where we take 
majority ownership of the project.

nicholaS curtiS am
ChAIRmAn

matthew JameS
mAnAgIng DIReCtoR

Left to right: Duncan Abernethy (Todd), Kim Keogh (Forge), Matthew Chinn (Forge),  
Nicholas Curtis (Forge), Geoff Atkins (Forge), Matthew James (Forge),  
Will Goodwin (Todd), Einar Vikingur (Todd) and Daniel Hayes (Forge).

Matthew James, Managing Director.
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 the Balla Balla Vti magnetite 
project, strategically located 
on the pilbara coast, has the 
ability to become a supplier 
of critical raw materials for 
the Chinese steel sector 
for at least three decades.”

a world 
claSS aSSet.

This financial year Forge acquired the Balla Balla Vanadium – Titanium 
– Magnetite (VTi Magnetite) Project (Balla Balla) from Atlas Iron Limited 
(Atlas). Following reaching agreement with Atlas, Forge entered into an 
unincorporated Joint Venture (JV) with Todd Capital (Todd), a subsidiary of 
the Todd Corporation of New Zealand, for the development of Balla Balla.

Balla Balla is located on granted mining tenements close to the Pilbara 
coastline, approximately 100km east of Anketell Point, adjacent to the 
North West Coastal Highway, the Pilbara Energy Gas pipeline and the 
grid power line between Karratha and Port Hedland. The proposed 
mine and processing plant has been granted Environmental Ministerial 
Approval, and water and conditional gas agreements are in place. 

The Board of Forge believes the Balla Balla project is an exciting 
opportunity for four key reasons:

1.  Advanced nature of project with low technical and resource 
risk: The project is at the Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) stage. 
Magnetite processing is a crush, grind, and magnetic separation, 
which is simple and well understood. The resource is well defined, 
with potential for extension.

2.  Compelling economics driven by low operating costs for 
magnetite production: 

 a.  The project location, gives Balla Balla a transportation cost 
advantage compared to inland iron ore projects.

 b.   A large component of operating costs for magnetite concentrate 
production is power used in milling. Balla Balla benefits from 
the ability to produce a relatively coarse grained magnetite 
concentrate, thus having relatively lower power costs.

 c.  Potential ilmenite by-product credits, produced from the 
magnetite tailings. 

PORT HEDLAND

INDIAN OCEAN

ROEBOURNE

WESTERN
AUSTRALIA

GAS PIPELINE

NORTH W
EST

COSTAL HWY

BALLA BALLA
PROJECT

Strategy
Development of a 
low cost, high value 
magnetite project with 
the additional benefits of 
contained Vanadium and 
Titanium, all of which are 
growing in demand. 

Performance
 + Well advanced 

project with low 
resource and technical 
development risk

 + Low project operating 
costs driven by 
location and unique 
project attributes

 + Customers ability 
to produce multiple 
products from 
concentrate assists 
steel industry to recover 
margins, leading to 
growth in demand for 
VTi Magnetite

“
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3.  Competitive advantage for steel 
mill customers: The steel mills able 
to process high vanadium and titanium 
iron ores enjoy a significant competitive 
advantage through either realising value 
from vanadium and titanium by-product 
revenue, or through direct use of 
vanadium and titanium in higher quality 
and price steel production.

4.  Growth in demand for VTi Magnetite: 
Steel standards are increasing in 
China, driven by legislation, requiring 
alloying elements such as vanadium to 
meet these higher specifications. The 
technology to capture vanadium and 
titanium is already proven, and steel mills 
are looking to incorporate this technology 
together with seeking a long-term stable 
supply of iron, vanadium, and titanium.

The Balla Balla deposit may be described 
as a titanomagnetite orebody, the dominant 
composition of which is iron with elevated 
levels of titanium and vanadium oxides. 
The JORC compliant Resources are shown 
in Table 1, with Proved and Probable 
Reserves totaling 229.0 million tonnes.

Balla Balla Magnetite  
Mineral Resource Estimate (Dec ’09)
Resource
Classification

Tonnes
(Mt)

Fe
(%)

V2O5
(%)

TiO2
(%)

Measured 219.0 45.1 0.64 14.0

Indicated 86.7 44.5 0.63 13.5

Inferred 150.2 44.3 0.64 13.4

TOTAL 455.9 44.7 0.64 13.7

Table 1. Balla Balla JORC Compliant Mineral 
Resource Estimate.

The ore zone extends across an 18.5km 
strike length, and is 20m-30m thick. 
Oxidation occurs to depths of between 
10m to 20m, which is relatively shallow in 
comparison to comparable projects. Mining 
will be by conventional open pit methods. 
The deposit has a strip ratio of 5:1 over the 
proposed life of the project.

The DFS completed by GR Engineering 
(GRES) for Aurox Resources Ltd 
(Aurox) in February 2010 proposed 
two construction phases: 

1.  Phase 1 is the establishment of open pit 
mining operations, processing facilities 
and associated infrastructure to produce 
6,000,000tpa of iron concentrate and 
280,000tpa of ilmenite concentrate. 

2.  Phase 2 is expansion of the Phase 1 open 
pit mining operations and processing 
facilities to produce 9,000,000tpa of iron 
concentrate and 425,000tpa of ilmenite 
concentration plus the installation of 
a vanadium plant to process higher 
grade vanadium ore and associated 
infrastructure to produce an additional 
1,000,000tpa of iron concentrate, 
45,000tpa of ilmenite concentrate and 
7,000tpa of ferrovanadium. 

The Aurox DFS incorporated a slurry 
pipeline to Port Hedland, however Atlas 
shall utilise the 10mtpa Port Hedland 
capacity historically earmarked for Balla 
Balla for their own operations. 

Forge is working to assess the use of 
trans-shipment from the Balla Balla 
coast, located approximately 10km from 
the project, where concentrate may be 
transported to a small jetty designed for 
loading barges which trans-ship to an 
ocean going bulk carrier anchored off-shore. 
Forge is also pursuing access to Anketell 
Port (when built).

Following the acquisition, Forge engaged 
GRES to uptake the DFS they previously 
completed for Aurox. GRES were asked to 
present a revised capital and operational cost 
estimate for costs at the first quarter 2012. 

Forge commenced an optimisation program 
to evaluate options for the maximisation of 
the overall Project Net Present Value (NPV). 
Forge appointed Partners in Performance 
to facilitate the review of the DFS. This 
process involved identifying the main drivers 
of capital and operating expenditure and 

to challenge the key assumptions behind 
these main drivers together with reviewing 
the interaction of the various components 
of the project. The optimisation process 
identified a number of specific concepts 
that warranted further evaluation, and 
included work on evaluating the potential 
for the establishment of a trans-shipment 
operation in lieu of exporting concentrate 
from either Anketell Port or Port Hedland. 

Upon completion of this review and 
confirmation of the benefits, a program to 
finalise the DFS shall be initiated. Forge shall 
then seek project finance for Balla Balla. The 
Company has received a Letter of Interest 
regarding project finance from the National 
Australia Bank, who know the project well.

outlooK 
Work is progressing 
to unlock project 
value including: 
completion of the revised 
DFS, the trans-shipment 
export path, potential 
customer interaction 
of product trials, and 
project financing.

A trans‑shipment scoping study 
has lead to commencement of a 
feasibility study and approvals work. 
This work, together with the approved 
DFS optimisation concepts, will be 
incorporated into a revised DFS, to 
be completed by early 2013. Potential 
customers have requested samples 
and arrangements are being made for 
these to be sent to China. Work has 
commenced with NAB on the project 
financing of Balla Balla.
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unlocKing 
oPtimum value.

EUCLA BASIN

OFFUCER BASIN

ALBANY-FRASER
OROGEN

WESTERN
AUSTRALIA

SOUTH
AUSTRALIA

WEST EUCLA
PROJECT

SOUTHERN
OCEAN

The West Eucla Project overlies a southwest area of the Albany-Fraser 
Orogen on the western margin of the Eucla Basin in Western Australia. 
The Proterozoic Albany-Fraser Belt is host to a number of significant 
economic mineral deposits and is the source of heavy minerals in the 
region. The shallow overlying Heavy Mineral (HM) bearing sediments 
of the Eucla Basin coupled with the increasing interest in gold and 
base metal potential of the Albany-Fraser Orogen provides Forge with 
an excellent opportunity to unlock the optimum value across a number 
of commodities. 

The Eucla Basin has global significance in the exploration and 
production of mineral sands. Located in southern Australia the Basin is 
emerging as an important global source of heavy minerals with recently 
discovered deposits in the east at Jacinth, Ambrosia and Cyclone. This 
together with a number of other new HM discoveries has highlighted 
the Basin as a new heavy mineral province of international significance. 

There had been no significant exploration within the specific project 
area. Recent advances into the geological understanding and mineral 
prospectively of both the Eucla Basin and the Albany-Fraser Orogen 
has resulted in renewed interest for the industry.

The Project consists of three contiguous granted exploration licences 
(E69/2386, E69/2388 and E69/2436) covering an area of approximately 
218 square kms and is easily accessed via the major transportation 
corridor of the Eyre Highway. These tenements straddle the highway 
which provides excellent access to the township of Norseman (145km 
west) and to global markets from the Port of Esperance some 345km 
to the south-west via the Eyre and Coolgardie-Esperance Highways.

Regional geology over the western margin of the Basin where the 
project is located shows heavy mineral bearing sediments deposited 

Strategy
To develop resources 
within the titanium 
feedstock industry; 
an industry which 
forecasts strong growth 
in demand together 
with a looming supply 
deficit moving forward.

Performance
 + Successful definition of 

a maiden heavy mineral 
resource (inferred 
category) of 470 million 
tonnes @4.6% HM for 
21.5 million tonnes of 
contained HM

 + Mineralogy confirms the 
deposit is ilmenite rich 
and worthy of bulk sample 
separation test work

 + Further exploration 
drilling identified 
additional mineralisation

“
Forge is exploring and defining 
heavy mineral sand resources 
at the West eucla project. 
Coupled with the base metal 
potential of the Albany-Fraser 
orogen, the Company is well 
positioned to unlock West 
eucla’s optimum value.”
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east of a paleoshoreline consisting of 
north-south oriented cliffs of a crystalline 
(granitic) basement that forms the Frasier 
Range. Periods of significant heavy mineral 
deposition are interpreted to correspond to 
at least three phases of shoreline formation. 
At West Eucla many of these mineralised 
sands are at or near surface.

Private companies initially applied for 
tenure in the area after prospecting and 
reconnaissance surface sampling located 
promising HM concentrations in dunes 
on the eastern side of the Fraser Range. 
Follow-up reconnaissance aircore drilling 
during 2008-09 identified an area of interest 
where a number of holes intersected 
near-surface heavy mineral sands assaying 
>5% HM and being up to 30m thick 
including surface to 27m @ 6.8% HM.

In September 2011 Forge was awarded the 
right to explore and develop the West Eucla 
Mineral Sand Project by way of a farm-in 
agreement whereby Forge has the right 
to earn 50.1% of the project by spending 
$2.0 million within two years. Forge may 
either elect to earn a further 28.9% (total 
80%) by spending a further $4.0 million 
over a further three year period, or acquire 
the project outright with a payment of $7.5 
million and the grant of a 1.5% gross sales 
royalty. Should Forge earn-in to 80%, Forge 
then has the right to acquire the project 
outright for a payment of $5 million and the 
grant of a 1.0% gross sales royalty.

Since that time and following the farm-in 
agreement, 212 NQ aircore drill holes have 
been completed resulting in the discovery 
of large volumes of HM bearing sand over a 
strike distance of 6km. This new discovery 
is named the McLaren HM Deposit. 

Specialist resource consultant Hellman 
and Schofield Pty Ltd has calculated the 
JORC compliant HM resource estimate 
(inferred category) to be 470 million tonnes 
@ 4.6% HM for 21.5 million tonnes of 
contained HM. The estimate applies a 
2.0% HM cutoff grade and a bulk density 
of 1.8 and is defined by a 500m by 200m 

drill spacing. Significantly the deposit is 
at, or near, surface and remains open to 
further extensions to the north. The deposit 
is hosted in unconsolidated sand and 
when applying a 2.0% HM cutoff grade 
the average unconstrained fines (less 
than 45 micron) content is 31%. Significant 
reduction in the fines content will be 
achieved as the resource model is refined 
with the application of geological and 
mineralogical constraints in due course. 

Following the maiden resource estimate 
a selection of composite sample were 
submitted for magnetically assisted optical 
grain count analysis and detailed Quantitative 
Evaluation of Minerals by Scanning Electron 
Microscopy (QEMSCAN). These results 
have been encouraging and show the heavy 
mineral sand is ilmenite rich. The average 
mineral assemblage of the heavy minerals 
from these samples determined by magnetic 
separation assisted grain count is 51.1% 
ilmenite, 1.0% leucoxene, 0.5% zircon 
and 0.3% rutile. The detailed QEMSCAN 
mineralogy test work completed by AMDEL 
Laboratories has identified 63.2% ilmenite 
(>40% TiO2), 0.5% zircon and 0.6% rutile 
within the heavy mineral assemblage. Iron 
oxide and goethite account for 12.6% and 
15.9% respectively. Pleasingly, over 56% of 
the ilmenite is an altered ilmenite with TiO2 
between 55% to 70%, and the deleterious 
minerals of monazite and chromite are low 
at 0.01% and below detection respectively. 
QEMSCAN particle classification test-work 
also confirmed that the average particle size 
of ilmenite and altered ilmenite is 94 and 
88 microns respectively. This is well within 
acceptable industry standards for efficient 
gravity separation.

A bulk sample (approx. 500 kg) of ore 
grade material has been submitted for 
initial ore characterisation with the aim 
of understanding the physical separation 
aspects required to produce a final 
salable concentrate. This work continues 
with the results expected to be received 
in the September 2012 quarter. 

In conjunction with the mineralogical test 
work at the McLaren HM Deposit, an 
exploration auger drill program comprising 
a total of 142 holes for 580 metres was 
also completed during the year. This 
reconnaissance drilling aimed to identify 
possible satellite mineral resources close 
to the McLaren HM Deposit with elevated 
high value heavy mineral concentrations. 
Detailed mineralogy analyses by chemical 
assay and QEMSCAN on 20 composite 
auger drill samples from the reconnaissance 
drill program have been submitted. 
While the mineralogical results for the 
20 composite drill samples have yet to be 
received, field observations confirm that the 
McLaren HM Deposit continues to the north 
over an extensive area.

outlooK 
Following the receipt 
of the bulk sample 
separation test-work and 
the integration of detailed 
geology and mineralogy 
into the resource model 
a detailed economic 
analysis will commence.

In addition to this work Forge 
recognises the potential of the project 
to host primary mineral deposits such 
as gold and base metals. Recent 
discoveries within the Albany‑Fraser 
Orogen have prompted the Company 
to review all the available data 
with the view of expanding the 
exploration scope to include the 
basement geology. Progress of these 
investigations will be reported as they 
come to hand.

1. Air-core drilling at the McLaren Heavy Mineral deposit.
2. Drill samples of heavy mineral bearing iron stained quartz sands.

1. 2.
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All the nSW green-field 
exploration projects have 
been advanced during the year. 
A number of prospects have 
been identified and advanced 
to drill ready status.”

delivering 
Solid ProgreSS.

“
WYMAH

MICHELAGO

CAPTAIN’S
FLAT

MAYFIELD

MAYFIELD
NORTH

NEW
SOUTH
WALES

VICTORIA

PACIFIC
OCEAN

LACHLAN
FOLD BELT

Forge’s NSW projects are host to a range of 
mineralisation types including volcanogenic 
massive sulphide, intrusive related gold 
and copper as well as vein hosted tin and 
tungsten. The tenements are all located 
within the highly prospective Lachlan 
Fold Belt and represent very encouraging 
exploration and development scenarios.

mayfield north 
Exploration Licence 6691 is considered 
prospective for granite hosted copper 
and gold mineralisation. The Loaded 
Dog Prospect located in the central 
part of the licence, has been the focus 
of a comprehensive exploration effort 
over the past 12 months resulting in the 
delineation of two particularly strong 
Induced Polarisation anomalies. Given the 
coincidence of anomalous rock and soil 
geochemistry, it is considered possible that 
these anomalies may represent disseminated 
copper/gold deposits at depth. Planning 
and environmental permitting applications 
have now been lodged with the NSW 
Government to enable the implementation 
of a comprehensive drilling program.

michelago
Exploration Licence 6376 contains a number 
of base metal and gold prospects hosted 
by a typically volcanogenic mineralising 
environment. Exploration by Forge has 
focused predominantly on the Colinton area 
located in the northern part of the licence, 
the Colinton Silver Mine Prospect in the 
centre and Birchams Prospect in the south.

At all three prospect areas, exploration 
has reached the stage where a number 
of drilling targets have been delineated. 
Further exploration work is planned to 
identify the full extent of the base metal 
mineralisation so far identified with the 
view to enabling a drilling.

wymah
The principal commodities being sought 
within Forge’s wholly owned exploration 
licence 7397 and ELA 4628 are tungsten, 
tin and molybdenum. Exploration activities 
by Forge have resulted in the identification 
of a number of targets within the licence 
areas and an exploration program is to 
be implemented to test these targets.

mayfield 
Capital Mining Limited (Capital) is the 
operator of a joint venture over exploration 
licence 6385 which covers the Mayfield 
Copper/Gold Prospect. Drilling by Capital 
during 2011-12 resulted in the upgrading 
of an existing resource (compliant with the 
JORC code) to:

•	 	4.0	million	tonnes	@	0.4%	copper,	 
0.7 g/t gold, 8.8 g/t silver, 0.2% zinc  
and 25.4% iron

Capital is currently re-assessing its entire 
exploration and development program 
for 2012-2013. Forge retains a 46.55% 
contributing interest in this project.

caPtainS flat 
Ironbark Zinc Limited and NSW Base 
Metals Pty Ltd are jointly earning a 75% 
interest in the Captains Flat Project (EL’s 
6381 and 6840). The project is host to the 
historic Lake George Mine that produced 
406,418 tonnes of zinc, 243,851 tonnes of 
lead, 27,230 tonnes of copper, 7.4 million 
ounces of silver and 220,000 ounces of 
gold. Positive results from a recent drilling 
program at Jerangle have provided impetus 
to the joint venture partners to undertake a 
substantial drilling program in 2012-2013 at 
Jerangle as well as several other prospects. 

Strategy
Enhancing the value 
of the Company’s 
tenements with targeted 
exploration has been 
the hallmark of Forge’s 
strategy in NSW.

Performance
 + The Mayfield North and 

Michelago Projects have 
been advanced to a 
point where drill targets 
have been identified

 + Wymah exploration 
results have identified 
multiple targets

 + Our joint venture partners 
have reached important 
development milestones 
in the Mayfield and 
Captains Flat Projects
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S nicholaS curtiS am
ChAIRmAn

Nicholas Curtis was appointed Chairman of Forge 
Resources Limited on 1 July 2010. Nicholas is a Founding 
Partner of Riverstone Advisory, a corporate advisory firm 
that specialises in bridging the gap between western 
resource opportunities and the increasing Chinese 
demand for raw materials. He is Executive Chairman of 
Lynas Corporation Limited and has been at the helm of 
the company since mid-2001. Lynas Corporation Limited’s 
strategy is to create a reliable, fully integrated source of 
Rare Earths supply from mine through to customers in the 
global Rare Earths industry. 

Nicholas also serves as a Director of the Asia Society 
AustralAsia Centre and is Chairman of Faces in the Street 
Urban Mental Health Research Institute at St Vincent’s 
Hospital Sydney. 

Nicholas was a Non-Executive Director of Conquest 
Mining Limited from 12 May 2010 to 18 October 2011 
prior to the company’s restructure to become Evolution 
Mining. From June 2004 to August 2011 Nicholas served 
as a Director of the Garvan Institute of Medical Research 
and from August 2004 to October 2009 he was Chairman 
of the Board of St Vincent’s & Mater Health Sydney 
Limited. In addition he served as a Director of St Vincent’s 
Health Australia Ltd and St Vincent’s Healthcare Ltd from 
1 June 2004 to 1 October 2010. 

Nicholas’s career spans more than 30 years in the 
resources and finance industries. He established Sino 
Mining Limited, which became Sino Gold Mining Limited, 
an Australian public company, also listed on the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange, with gold assets in China. Sino 
Gold was purchased by Eldorado Gold Corporation of 
Canada in December 2009.

Prior to this, Nicholas was Executive Director of Macquarie 
Bank Limited and Managing Director of Asia Resource 
Capital Limited. 

On 13 June 2011, Nicholas was awarded an AM 
(Member of the Order) for his services to the community 
through executive roles supporting medical research and 
healthcare organisations and also for his work fostering 
Australia-China relations. 

dr. matthew JameS
mAnAgIng DIReCtoR

Dr. Matthew James was appointed to the Board effective 
15 August 2011 and joined Forge Resources from Lynas 
Corporation where he held the role of Executive Vice 
President Strategy and Corporate Communications with 
accountability for strategy and business development, as 
well as investor relations and corporate communications. 
Matthew played an instrumental role over the past nine 
years in building Lynas to an ASX100 company with a 
market capitalisation of approximately $3.5 billion, filling 
a wide range of roles in the senior management of Lynas 
during his time there, including Chief Financial Officer.

Prior to joining Lynas, Matthew spent three years at Deutsche 
Bank in London followed by four years in the London office 
of McKinsey & Company, the management consulting 
firm where he worked at the CEO and board level of major 
companies helping them in strategic, organisational and 
operations issues. Matthew received a BE (Hons) degree in 
Ceramic Engineering from the University of New South Wales, 
Australia and Ph.D. in Material Science and Engineering from 
Queens’ College at the University of Cambridge.

emmanuel correia
non-exeCutIVe DIReCtoR

Emmanuel Correia was appointed to the board on 8 October 
2009 and is a Chartered Accountant and has extensive 
experience in the corporate finance and equity capital 
markets. Emmanuel has had over 20 years public accounting 
and corporate finance experience both in Australia, North 
America and the United Kingdom. He has held various 
senior positions with Deloitte and other accounting firms 
and boutique corporate finance houses. Emmanuel provides 
corporate advice to a diverse client base both in Australia 
and in overseas markets. Emmanuel has previously held a 
number of public company directorships and his key areas 
of expertise include Initial Public Offerings and secondary 
capital raisings, corporate strategy and structuring and 
merger and acquisitions. Emmanuel is a non-executive 
director of Exalt Resources Ltd and Ambassador Oil and 
Gas Ltd and is also the Company Secretary of Bluglass Ltd.

harold ou wang
non-exeCutIVe DIReCtoR

Harold Wang was appointed to the Board on 1 July 
2010 and is a Founding Partner of Riverstone Advisory, a 
corporate advisory firm that specialises in bridging the gap 
between western resource opportunities and the increasing 
Chinese demand for raw materials. Harold previously 
worked for China National Non-ferrous Metals Corporation 
(CNNC), China’s non-ferrous sector ‘ministery’ and former 
parent of CHINALCO, CNMC, JNMC, Minmetals and many 
other Chinese non-ferrous majors.

Harold was Deputy Director of CNNC’s planning department, 
overseeing new investment projects, and Foreign Affairs 
Department. In his role at CNNC. Harold was in charge of 
all international funding for CNNC for a period of 10 years. 
Harold also held the position of Vice President, China Business 
Development with Sino Mining International, Sino Refco Capital 
and Asia Resource Capital, a Joint Venture between Macquarie 
Bank and CNNC. Harold held the position of Executive 
Director and President of Lynas Corporation Limited before 
2007. Harold studied at Tsinghua University, Beijing for his 
Master’s degree of Engineering in the early 1980s.

michael wolley
non-exeCutIVe DIReCtoR

Michael was appointed to the Board 7 June 2012 and 
holds a first class honours degree in Chemical and Materials 
Engineering (University of Auckland) and a Masters of 
Management (Macquarie Graduate School of Management). 
Michael had a 15 year career with Mobil Oil Australia in a 
range of roles including engineering, operations, strategic 
planning and business development in Australia and New 
Zealand. In 1995 he left Mobil to pursue opportunities in 
Asia Pacific and worked in a number of senior executive 
roles in the manufacturing and industrial sectors including 
a period as President BlueScope Steel China.

In 2007 Michael returned to the resources sector as Chief 
Operating Officer for Lynas Corporation, and subsequently 
into the gold sector where he is a Director of Red Mountain 
Mining, an ASX listed gold development business.

Michael currently holds the position of Vice President 
Corporate Development for The Todd Corporation Limited. 
He is a Director of Montero Mining, a TSX listed resources 
business, and also sits on the Board of Strattera, the New 
Zealand minerals industry body, and is a member of the 
AICD and the NZICD.
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The Directors present their report on the Company and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 
2012. 
 
DIRECTORS 
The names of Directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 
 
Nicholas Curtis, B.A. (Hons), Non-Executive Chairman 
 
Nicholas Curtis was appointed to the Board 1st July 2010 and is a Founding Partner of Riverstone Advisory, a 
corporate advisory firm that specialises in bridging the gap between western resource opportunities and 
the increasing Chinese demand for raw materials. 
 
Nicholas is also Executive Chairman of Lynas Corporation Limited and has been involved with that Company 
since mid-2001. Lynas Corporation Limited’s strategy is to create a reliable, fully integrated source of rare 
earths supply from mine through to customers in the global rare earths industry. 
 
Nicholas has gained extensive industry knowledge from his early career as a banker to the resources 
industry and from his time spent as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Sino Mining International 
Limited, which he established in 1996. Sino Mining International Limited was then a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of China National Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation (“CNNC”), a large Chinese trading 
Company. Following disbandment of CNNC, Nicholas established Sino Mining Limited, which became Sino 
Gold Mining Limited (“Sino Gold”) and was the Chairman until November 2005. Sino Gold was an Australian 
public Company, also listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, with gold assets in China. Sino Gold was 
purchased by Eldorado Gold Corporation of Canada in December 2009. 
 
Prior to his time with Sino Gold, Nicholas held the positions of Executive Director of Macquarie Bank 
Limited and Managing Director of Asia Resource Capital Limited, a joint venture between Macquarie Bank 
Limited and CNNC. 
 
Nicholas also served as Chairman of St Vincents & Mater Health Sydney Limited from 2004–2009. 
 
Dr. Matthew James, BE (Hons) Ph.D, Managing Director 
 
Dr. James was appointed to the Board effective 15th August 2011 and joined Forge Resources from Lynas 
Corporation where he held the role of Executive Vice President Strategy and Corporate Communications 
with accountability for strategy and business development, as well as investor relations and corporate 
communications. Matthew played an instrumental role over the past 9 years in building Lynas to an ASX100 
Company with a market capitalisation of approximately $3.5 billion, filling a wide range of roles in the 
senior management of Lynas during his time there, including Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Prior to joining Lynas, Matthew spent three years at Deutsche Bank in London followed by four years in the 
London office of McKinsey & Company, the management consulting firm where he worked at the CEO and 
board level of major companies helping them in strategic, organisational and operations issues. Matthew 
received a BE (Hons) degree in Ceramic Engineering from the University of New South Wales, Australia and 
Ph.D. in Material Science and Engineering from Queens’ College at the University of Cambridge. 
 
 
 
 

Nicholas Curtis AM, B.A. (Hons), Non-Executive Chairman
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Dr. Matthew James, BE (Hons) Ph.D, Managing Director 
 
Dr. James was appointed to the Board effective 15th August 2011 and joined Forge Resources from Lynas 
Corporation where he held the role of Executive Vice President Strategy and Corporate Communications 
with accountability for strategy and business development, as well as investor relations and corporate 
communications. Matthew played an instrumental role over the past 9 years in building Lynas to an ASX100 
Company with a market capitalisation of approximately $3.5 billion, filling a wide range of roles in the 
senior management of Lynas during his time there, including Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Prior to joining Lynas, Matthew spent three years at Deutsche Bank in London followed by four years in the 
London office of McKinsey & Company, the management consulting firm where he worked at the CEO and 
board level of major companies helping them in strategic, organisational and operations issues. Matthew 
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Harold Ou Wang, Masters of Science, Non-Executive Director 
 
Harold Wang was appointed to the Board 1st July 2010 and is a Founding Partner of Riverstone Advisory, a 
corporate advisory firm that specialises in bridging the gap between western resource opportunities and 
the increasing Chinese demand for raw materials. 
 
Harold previously worked for China National Non-ferrous Metals Corporation (“CNNC”), China’s non-
ferrous sector ‘ministry’ and former parent of CHINALCO, CNMC, JNMC, Minmetals and many other non-
ferrous majors. Harold was Deputy Director of CNNC’s planning department, overseeing new investment 
projects, and Foreign Affairs Department. In his role at CNNC Harold was in charge of all international 
funding for CNNC for a period of 10 years. 
 
Harold also held the position of Vice President, China Business Development with Sino Mining 
International, Sino Refco Capital and Asia Resource Capital a Joint Venture between Macquarie Bank and 
CNNC. Harold held the position of Executive Director and President of Lynas Corporation Limited. Harold 
studied at Tsinghua University, Beijing for his Master’s degree of Engineering in early 1980s. 
 
Michael Wolley, B.A. (Hons) MMgmt, Non-Executive Director 
 
Michael was appointed to the Board 7th June 2012 and holds a first class honours degree in Chemical and 
Materials Engineering (University of Auckland) and a Masters of Management (Macquarie Graduate School 
of Management). Michael had a 15 year career with Mobil Oil Australia in a range of roles including 
engineering, operations, strategic planning and business development in Australia and New Zealand. In 
1995 he left Mobil to pursue opportunities in Asia Pacific and worked in a number of senior executive roles 
in the manufacturing and industrial sectors including a period as President BlueScope Steel China. 
 
In 2007 Michael returned to the resources sector as Chief Operating Officer for Lynas Corporation, and 
subsequently into the gold sector where he is a Director of Red Mountain Mining, an ASX listed gold 
development business. 
 
Michael currently holds the position of Vice President Corporate Development for The Todd Corporation 
Limited (“Todd”). He is a Director of Montero Mining, a TSX listed resources business, and also sits on the 
Board of Strattera, the New Zealand minerals industry body, and is a member of the AICD and the NZICD. 
 
Emmanuel Correia, B.Bus ACA, Non-Executive Director 
 
Emmanuel Correia was appointed to the Board 8th October 2009 and is a Chartered Accountant and has 
extensive experience in the corporate finance and equity capital markets. Emmanuel has had over 20 years 
public accounting and corporate finance experience both in Australia, North America and the United 
Kingdom. He has held various senior positions with Deloitte and other accounting firms and boutique 
corporate finance houses. 
 
Emmanuel provides corporate advice to a diverse client base both in Australia and in overseas markets. 
Emmanuel has previously held a number of public Company Directorships and his key areas of expertise 
include Initial Public Offerings and secondary capital raisings, corporate strategy and structuring and 
merger and acquisitions.  Emmanuel is a non–executive director of Exalt Resources Ltd and Ambassador Oil 
and Gas and is also the Company Secretary of Bluglass Ltd. 
 
Jim Malone, B.Comm, Non-Executive Director (Resigned 31 October 2011) 

Michael currently holds the position of Vice President Corporate Development for The Todd Corporation 
Limited. He is a Director of Montero Mining, a TSX listed resources business, and also sits on the Board of 
Strattera, the New Zealand minerals industry body, and is a member of the AICD and the NZICD.
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COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
The name of the Company Secretary as at the end of the financial year and at the date of this report is 
Shane Hartwig. 
 
Shane Hartwig is a Certified Practicing Accountant and Chartered Company Secretary and holds a Bachelor 
of Business degree, majoring in Accounting and Taxation from Curtin University of Technology in Western 
Australia. 
 
Shane is involved in the areas of initial public offerings, capital raisings, prospectus and information 
memorandum preparation and project management, Company assessments and due diligence reviews, 
mergers and acquisitions and providing general corporate advice and is currently Non-Executive Director of 
Exalt Resources Limited, Company Secretary of Anteo Diagnostics Limited and Exalt Resources Limited both 
on a contract basis. 
 
Shane has over 16 years’ experience in the finance industry both nationally and internationally with 
exposure to both the debt and equity capital markets. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activities of the consolidated group are to pursue and acquire mineral and energy related 
assets in Australia and overseas.  
 
OPERATING RESULTS 
 
The net loss of the consolidated group after income tax for the year was $13,717,392 (2011: $1,780,818). 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividends have been paid or declared by the consolidated group since the beginning of the year. 
 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
The net assets of the consolidated group at 30 June 2012 were $13,498,757 (2011: $3,714,270). At 30 June 
2012 the Company had cash balances of $9,720,297 (2011: $2,923,991). 
 
STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Other than matters detailed in the Review of Operations and Likely Developments there were no significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated group. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

 
Background 
 
Forge was originally formed in 2009 to participate in the exploration and acquisition of mineral and energy 
related assets. The Company’s primary project is its 75% interest in the advanced Balla Balla Vanadium – 
Titanium – Magnetite (“VTi Magnetite”) project (“Balla Balla”) that was recently acquired by Forge from 
Atlas Iron Limited (“Atlas”). Balla Balla is located on granted mining tenements near the Pilbara coastline 
approximately 100km west of Anketell Point. A revised definitive feasibility study (DFS) is nearing 
completion. In addition Forge is currently farming-in to a mineral sands exploration project within the Eucla 
Basin. Forge in conjunction with its Joint Venture partners are advancing the exploration and development 
of prospective tungsten, molybdenum, gold and base metal projects located in New South Wales, Australia 
and in accordance with its charter will also seek to acquire or participate in additional resource and energy 
projects in Australia and overseas. 
 
Corporate Activity 
 
During the past year your Company has taken critical foundation steps along its journey to become a major 
diversified metals Company. Capable and experienced key management have been put in place, in 
particular with the appointment of Dr. Matthew James as Managing Director. Key management processes 
have been established to identify the way we will operate at Forge. These processes are designed to ensure 
integrity and diligence in evaluating all risks associated with the many projects we consider as well as 
careful thoroughness in reviewing and optimising those we chose to move forward, with in particular the 
Balla Balla project and the West Eucla Basin Mineral Sands project.  
 
The Company completed two capital raisings during the year, an initial $2.5 million equity placement at 
$0.50 per ordinary share, followed by a more substantial $50 million dollar raising comprising of both debt 
and equity. The $50 million raising consisted of:  

1. an investment by Todd Capital (“Todd”) to acquire a direct 25% interest in Balla Balla ($10 million) 
to be run as an unincorporated joint venture between Todd (25%) and Forge (75%); 

2. a senior secured project-level debt facility from Todd to Forge ($27.5 million); 
3. a placement of Forge shares to Todd (at an issue price of $0.50 per share) ($8 million); and 
4. alongside the Todd investment, Forge placed $4.5 million of new shares to sophisticated investors 

bringing the total new funding raised to $50 million.  

This transaction enabled Forge to complete the purchase of Balla Balla from Atlas and provide Forge with 
additional working capital to advance both Balla Balla and the West Eucla Mineral Sands Project in Western 
Australia. 
 
Existing Projects 
 
Balla Balla Project 
 
This financial year Forge acquired Balla Balla from Atlas. Following reaching agreement with Atlas, Forge 
subsequently sold 25% to and entered into an unincorporated Joint Venture (“JV”) with a subsidiary of 
Todd for the development of Balla Balla. 
 
Balla Balla is located on granted mining tenements close to the Pilbara coastline, approximately 100km east 
of Anketell Point, adjacent to the North West Coastal Highway, the Pilbara Energy Gas pipeline and the grid 
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power line between Karratha and Port Hedland. The proposed mine and processing plant has been granted 
Environmental Ministerial Approval, and water and conditional gas agreements are in place.  
 
Following the completion of the acquisition, Forge engaged GR Engineering Limited (“GRES”) to uptake the 
DFS they previously completed for Aurox Iron Limited (“Aurox”).  
 
West Eucla Project 
 
In September 2011 Forge achieved the right to explore and develop the West Eucla Mineral Sand Project by 
way of a farm in agreement whereby Forge has the right to earn 50.1% of the project by spending $2.0 
million within two years. Forge may either elect to earn a further 28.9% (total 80%) by spending a further 
$4.0 million over a further three year period, or acquire the project outright with a payment of $7.5 million 
and the grant of a 1.5% gross sales royalty. Should Forge earn-in to 80%, Forge then has the right to acquire 
the project outright for a payment of $5 million and the grant of a 1.0% gross sales royalty. 
 
Following the farm-in agreement, 212 NQ aircore drill holes have been completed resulting in the discovery 
of large volumes of HM bearing sand over a strike distance of 6 km. This new discovery is named the 
McLaren HM Deposit.  
 
Specialist resource consultant Hellman and Schofield Pty Ltd has calculated the JORC compliant HM 
resource estimate (inferred category) to be 470 million tonnes @ 4.6% HM for 21.5 million tonnes of 
contained HM. The estimate applies a 2.0% HM cut-off grade and a bulk density of 1.8 and is defined by a 
500 meter by 200 meter drill spacing. 
 
Overview of NSW Exploration Activities 

 
The Company’s NSW projects are host to a range of mineralization types including volcanogenic massive 
sulphide, intrusive related gold and copper as well as vein hosted tin and tungsten. The tenements are all 
located within the highly prospective Lachlan Fold Belt. In the last year the Mayfield North and Michelago 
Projects have been advanced to a point where drill targets have been identified, Wymah exploration results 
have identified multiple targets, and our joint venture partners have reached important development 
milestones in the Mayfield and Captains Flat Projects. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

farm-in
In September 2011 Forge achieved the right to explore and develop the West Eucla Mineral Sand Project by 
way of a farm-in agreement whereby Forge has the right to earn 50.1% of the project by spending $2 million 
within two years. Forge may either elect to earn a further 28.9% (total 80%) by spending a further $4 million 
over a further three year period, or acquire the project outright with a payment of $7.5 million and the grant 
of a 1.5% gross sales royalty. Should Forge earn-in to 80%, Forge then has the right to acquire the project 
outright for a payment of $5 million and the grant of a 1.0% gross sales royalty.
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REMUNERATION REPORT 
 
Details of the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director of Forge Resources Limited and key 
management personnel and for the executives receiving the highest remuneration are set out below. 
 
Remuneration Policy and Practices 
 
The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration of Board members and 
senior executives is as follows: 

i. Non-Executive Directors 
 
 The Board’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for comparable 

companies for time, commitment and responsibilities. The Board determines payments to its Non-
Executive Directors and will review their remuneration annually. 

 
 The maximum aggregate annual remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by 

the shareholders in general meeting. The shareholders have determined at a general meeting held 
on 9 March 2010 the maximum aggregate remuneration amount to be $350,000 per year. The 
Directors have resolved that the fees payable to Non-Executive Directors for all Board activities are 
$155,000 per year plus superannuation guarantee contributions of 9% per annum where required by 
legislation.  

 

ii. Key management personnel 
 
 To pursue the Company’s objectives, the Company has assembled a group of Director’s which we 

believe have extensive experience in the mining, metallurgy and finance industries. The Company will 
recruit appropriate key executive management personnel commensurate with the Company’s 
growth in activity. The remuneration structure for these key executive management, including 
Executive Directors will be based on a number of factors, including qualifications, particular 
experience, general past performance of the individual concerned, overall performance of the 
Company and general human resources market pricing. There is no predetermined equity 
compensation element within the remuneration structure nor predetermined performance 
conditions to be satisfied; these equity compensation elements and performance conditions are 
considered on an individual basis. 

 
Company performance and Director and executive remuneration 
 
The aim of the Company’s remuneration policy is to achieve goal congruence between the Company’s 
shareholders, Directors and executives. 
 
Executive Share Trust 
 
The Company has established the Forge Resources Limited Employee Share Trust (“EST”) for the purpose of 
retaining and incentivising its key personnel. The Company believes that the criteria set out in the Trust 
provide a cost effective performance-based means by which the Company can reward its key personnel. 
For further details, please refer to note 17 of the financial statements which set out the main terms of the 
EST. 
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Remuneration of Directors and Key Management for the year to 30 June 2012 
 

 Short-term benefits Post-employment Share-based payments Total remun-
eration 
represented by 
options, rights 
and shares 

 Cash 
salary and 
fees 

Non-
cash 
benefits 

Super-
annuation 

Termi-
nation 
benefits 

Options Rights Shares Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

2012          

Directors          

N Curtis - - - - - - 7,920,000 7,920,000 100 

M James *** 291,887 - 19,729 - 204,226 - - 515,842 40 

H Ou Wang 36,000 - - - 79,500 - - 115,500 69 

E Correia 35,000 - - - 39,750 - - 74,750 53 

M Wolley ** - - - - - - - - - 

J Malone * 11,667 - - - - - - 11,667 - 

Total Directors 374,554 - 19,729 - 323,476 - 7,920,000 8,637,759 95 

Key Mgmt          

G Atkins 204,707 - 18,423 - 111,531 - - 334,661 33 

S Hartwig 72,000 - - - 39,750 - - 111,750 36 

Total Key Mgmt 276,707 - 18,423 - 151,281 - - 446,411 34 

Total 651,261 - 38,152 - 474,757 - 7,920,000 9,084,170 92 

*   Resigned 31 October 2011 
**   Appointed 7 June 2012 
*** Appointed 15 August 2011 
 

 Short-term 
benefits 

Post-employment Share-based payments Total 
remuneration 
represented 
by options 
and rights 

 Cash 
salary 

and fees 

Non-
cash 

benefits 

Super-
annuati

on 

Termi-
nation 

benefits 

Options Rights Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 
2011         
Directors         
N Curtis - - - - - - - - 
H Ou Wang 36,000 - - - - - 36,000 - 
E Correia 8,750 - - - - - 8,750 - 

J Malone 32,083 - - - - - 32,083 - 
B Siddall * - - - - - - - - 
S Hartwig * - - - - - - - - 

Total 
Directors 

76,833 - - - - - 76,833 - 

* Resigned 1 July 2010 
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Remuneration of Directors and Key Management for the year to 30 June 2012 
 

 Short-term benefits Post-employment Share-based payments Total remun-
eration 
represented by 
options, rights 
and shares 

 Cash 
salary and 
fees 

Non-
cash 
benefits 

Super-
annuation 

Termi-
nation 
benefits 

Options Rights Shares Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

2012          

Directors          

N Curtis - - - - - - 7,920,000 7,920,000 100 

M James *** 291,887 - 19,729 - 204,226 - - 515,842 40 

H Ou Wang 36,000 - - - 79,500 - - 115,500 69 

E Correia 35,000 - - - 39,750 - - 74,750 53 

M Wolley ** - - - - - - - - - 

J Malone * 11,667 - - - - - - 11,667 - 

Total Directors 374,554 - 19,729 - 323,476 - 7,920,000 8,637,759 95 

Key Mgmt          

G Atkins 204,707 - 18,423 - 111,531 - - 334,661 33 

S Hartwig 72,000 - - - 39,750 - - 111,750 36 

Total Key Mgmt 276,707 - 18,423 - 151,281 - - 446,411 34 

Total 651,261 - 38,152 - 474,757 - 7,920,000 9,084,170 92 

*   Resigned 31 October 2011 
**   Appointed 7 June 2012 
*** Appointed 15 August 2011 
 

 Short-term 
benefits 

Post-employment Share-based payments Total 
remuneration 
represented 
by options 
and rights 

 Cash 
salary 

and fees 

Non-
cash 

benefits 

Super-
annuati

on 

Termi-
nation 

benefits 

Options Rights Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % 
2011         
Directors         
N Curtis - - - - - - - - 
H Ou Wang 36,000 - - - - - 36,000 - 
E Correia 8,750 - - - - - 8,750 - 

J Malone 32,083 - - - - - 32,083 - 
B Siddall * - - - - - - - - 
S Hartwig * - - - - - - - - 

Total 
Directors 

76,833 - - - - - 76,833 - 

* Resigned 1 July 2010 
 

 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
 

Key Mgmt 
G Atkins 16,820 - 1,514 - 1,887 - 20,221 9 
S Hartwig 6,000 - - - - - 6,000 - 

Total Key 
Mgmt 

22,820  1,514  1,887  26,221 7 

Total 99,653 - 1,514 - 1,887 - 103,054 2 
 
 
Directors’ securities holdings 
 
As at the date of this report, the relevant interests of the Directors in the securities of the Company were as 
follows: 

 Number 

For the year to 30 June 2012 Fully paid ordinary 
shares 

Options Performance 
Shares 

Nicholas Curtis 28,250,000 1,333,334 - 
Matthew James* 410,000 3,616,667 - 
Harold Ou Wang 350,000 1,416,667 - 
Michael Wolley *** - - - 
Emmanuel Correia 325,001 858,334 - 
Jim Malone** 375,000 125,001 - 

 29,710,001 7,350,003 - 
For the period to 30 June 2011    
Nicholas Curtis 4,000,000 1,333,334 24,000,000 
Matthew James* 350,000 116,667 - 
Harold Ou Wang 350,000 116,667 - 
Emmanuel Correia 325,001 608,334 - 
Jim Malone** 375,000 125,001 - 

 5,400,001 2,300,003 24,000,000 
*  Appointed effective 14 August 2011 
**  Resigned 31 October 2011 
***  Appointed 7 June 2012 
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Service Agreement 

The Managing Director, Dr Matthew James is an employee of the Company under an agreement signed on 
1 August 2011. Under the terms of the contract: 

 A salary package of $370,000 per annum including statutory superannuation 

 Annual leave of 4 weeks 

 An incentive component comprising 2,000,000 options to purchase fully paid ordinary shares in 
Forge with the following key terms: 

o Options were approved by Forge shareholders at AGM held 24 November 2011 

o Exercise Price of $0.54 

o Expiry date of 4 years from date of issue 

o Options to vest, 1,000,000 on the first anniversary date of employment and 1,000,000 in 
the event the Company is successful in raising a minimum of $15m at a price no less than 
$0.35 per share on or before 23rd March 2012. 

 
End of audited Remuneration Report 
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Service Agreement 

The Managing Director, Dr Matthew James is an employee of the Company under an agreement signed on 
1 August 2011. Under the terms of the contract: 

 A salary package of $370,000 per annum including statutory superannuation 

 Annual leave of 4 weeks 

 An incentive component comprising 2,000,000 options to purchase fully paid ordinary shares in 
Forge with the following key terms: 

o Options were approved by Forge shareholders at AGM held 24 November 2011 

o Exercise Price of $0.54 

o Expiry date of 4 years from date of issue 

o Options to vest, 1,000,000 on the first anniversary date of employment and 1,000,000 in 
the event the Company is successful in raising a minimum of $15m at a price no less than 
$0.35 per share on or before 23rd March 2012. 

 
End of audited Remuneration Report 
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SHARE OPTIONS 
 
Numbers of options over unissued ordinary shares at the date of this report were as follows: 
 
2012 
Options exercisable at $0.56 per share on or before 10 September 2017    50,000 
Options exercisable at $0.54 per share on or before 15 June 2015    900,000 
Options exercisable at $0.54 per share on or before 1 December 2015    4,575,000 
Options exercisable at $0.50 per share on or before 31 May 2014    6,500,000 
Options exercisable at $0.50 per share on or before 31 May 2015    1,000,000 
Options exercisable at $0.67 per share on or before 15 June 2015    600,000 
 
2011 
Options exercisable at $0.20 per share on or before 31 July 2014 19,855,905 
Options exercisable at $0.20 per share on or before 15 June 2015     600,000 
 
 
PERFORMANCE SHARES 
 
The Performance Shares expired on 21 March 2012 and were replaced by ordinary shares in the Company 
as approved by a general meeting of shareholders held on 25 May 2012. 
 
The terms and conditions of the 24,000,000 Performance Shares were as follows: 
 
 
Rights attaching to the Performance Shares 
 
(a) Each Performance Share is a share in the capital of the Company. 
 
(b) The Performance Shares shall confer on the holder (“Holder”) the right to receive notices of general 

meetings and financial reports and accounts of the Company that are circulated to Shareholders. 
Holders have the right to attend general meetings of Shareholders of the Company. 

 
(c) The Performance Shares do not entitle the Holder to vote on any resolutions proposed at a general 

meeting of Shareholders of the Company. 
 
(d) The Performance Shares do not entitle the Holder to any dividends. 
 
(e) Upon winding up of the Company, the Performance Shares may participate in the surplus profits or 

assets of the Company only to the extent of $0.000001 per Performance Share. 
 
(f) The Performance Shares are not transferable. 
 
(g) In the event that issued capital of the Company is reconstructed, all rights of a Holder will be changed 

to the extent necessary to comply with the Listing Rules at the time of reorganisation. 
 
(h) The Performance Shares will not be quoted on ASX. Upon conversion of the Performance Shares, and 

subject to escrow provisions, into Shares in accordance with these terms, the Company must within 
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seven days after the conversion, apply for the Official Quotation of the Shares arising from the 
conversion on ASX. 

 
(i) Holders of Performance Shares will not be entitled to participate in new issues of capital offered to 

holders of the Shares such as bonus issues and entitlement issues. 
 
(j) The Performance Shares give the Holders no rights other than those expressly provided by these terms 

and those provided at law where such rights at law cannot be excluded by these terms. 
 
Conversion of the Performance Shares 
 
(a) The Performance Shares will convert into Shares in the capital of the Company upon either one of the 

Company’s existing projects or, a project acquired after the Admission Date is identified as having a 
JORC compliant resource which supports a successful capital raising of at least $15,000,000 at a price 
not less than $0.35 per Share by the Company and the Company completing such a capital raising 
(“Milestone”). Upon completion of the Milestone, all Performance Shares will convert into 24,000,000 
Shares in the capital of the Company; 

 
(b) The Performance Shares will expire 18 months from the Admission Date (“Expiry Date”). 
 
(c) In the event that the Milestone is not achieved by the Expiry Date, then all Performance Shares held by 

a Holder will automatically convert into one Share. 
 
(d) The Shares issued on conversion of the Performance Shares will, subject to any restriction agreements 

entered into in accordance with the Listing Rules, as and from 5.00pm (AEST) on the date of allotment, 
rank equally with and confer rights identical with all other Shares then on issue and application will be 
made by the Company to ASX for Official Quotation of the Shares issued upon conversion. 

 
(e) The Company will issue the Holder with a new holding statement for the Shares as soon as practicable 

following the conversion of the Performance Shares into the Shares. 
 
(f) The Shares into which the Performance Shares will convert will rank pari passu in all respects with the 

Shares on issue at the date of conversion. 

20

directorS’ rePort



 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
 

seven days after the conversion, apply for the Official Quotation of the Shares arising from the 
conversion on ASX. 

 
(i) Holders of Performance Shares will not be entitled to participate in new issues of capital offered to 

holders of the Shares such as bonus issues and entitlement issues. 
 
(j) The Performance Shares give the Holders no rights other than those expressly provided by these terms 

and those provided at law where such rights at law cannot be excluded by these terms. 
 
Conversion of the Performance Shares 
 
(a) The Performance Shares will convert into Shares in the capital of the Company upon either one of the 

Company’s existing projects or, a project acquired after the Admission Date is identified as having a 
JORC compliant resource which supports a successful capital raising of at least $15,000,000 at a price 
not less than $0.35 per Share by the Company and the Company completing such a capital raising 
(“Milestone”). Upon completion of the Milestone, all Performance Shares will convert into 24,000,000 
Shares in the capital of the Company; 

 
(b) The Performance Shares will expire 18 months from the Admission Date (“Expiry Date”). 
 
(c) In the event that the Milestone is not achieved by the Expiry Date, then all Performance Shares held by 

a Holder will automatically convert into one Share. 
 
(d) The Shares issued on conversion of the Performance Shares will, subject to any restriction agreements 

entered into in accordance with the Listing Rules, as and from 5.00pm (AEST) on the date of allotment, 
rank equally with and confer rights identical with all other Shares then on issue and application will be 
made by the Company to ASX for Official Quotation of the Shares issued upon conversion. 

 
(e) The Company will issue the Holder with a new holding statement for the Shares as soon as practicable 

following the conversion of the Performance Shares into the Shares. 
 
(f) The Shares into which the Performance Shares will convert will rank pari passu in all respects with the 

Shares on issue at the date of conversion. 
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
 
Attendances by each Director to meetings of Directors (including committee of Directors) during the year to 
30 June 2012 were as follows: 
 
 

 Directors Meetings Audit Committee Meetings 
2012 Number eligible to 

attend 
Number 
attended 

Number eligible 
to attend 

Number 
attended 

Nicholas Curtis 13 12 - - 
Matthew James * 13 13 - - 
Harold Ou Wang 13 6 2 1 

Michael Wolley *** 1 1 - - 
Emmanuel Correia 13 13 2 2 
2011   
Nicholas Curtis 11 10 - - 
Harold Ou Wang 11 11 1 - 
Emmanuel Correia 11 10 1 1 
Jim Malone ** 11 11 1 1 
George Siddall **** - - - - 
Shane Hartwig **** - - - - 

 
*  Appointed effective 15 August 2011 
**          Resigned effective 31 October 2011 
***        Appointed 7 June 2012 
****     Resigned effective 1 July 2010  
 
During the year, some Board business was affected by execution of circulated resolutions. 
 
 
INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITORS 
 
Since the end of the financial year, the Company has paid a premium of $7,880 (2011: $7,943) in respect of 
a contract insuring the Directors and officers of the Company against a liability incurred by such Directors 
and officers to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The Company has not otherwise, during 
or since the end of the year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the Company, or of any 
related body corporate, against a liability incurred by such the auditor. 
 
PROCEEDINGS 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or any part of those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such proceedings in 
the year. 
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MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
On 11 September 2012, the Company issued 1,025,000 options (800,000 options still subject to shareholder 
approval) to purchase fully paid ordinary shares in the Company’s Employee Share Trust. 
 
Other than described above there has not arisen in the interval since 30 June 2012 and up to the date of 
this report, any matter that, in the opinion of the Directors, has significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company 
in future financial years.  
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non audit services by the auditor during the year is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 
and do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia and CPA Australia’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants.  
 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditors (Hall Chadwick) for non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out below. 
 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
(a) Taxation Services   
Tax compliance services, including review of Company income tax returns 4,250 8,135 
Total remuneration for taxation services 4,250 8,135 
   
(b) Advisory Services   
Consulting services 48,000 4,000 
Total remuneration for advisory services 48,000 4,000 
Total remuneration for non-audit services 52,250 12,135 
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MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
On 11 September 2012, the Company issued 1,025,000 options (800,000 options still subject to shareholder 
approval) to purchase fully paid ordinary shares in the Company’s Employee Share Trust. 
 
Other than described above there has not arisen in the interval since 30 June 2012 and up to the date of 
this report, any matter that, in the opinion of the Directors, has significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company 
in future financial years.  
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The Board of Directors is satisfied that the provision of non audit services by the auditor during the year is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 
and do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia and CPA Australia’s APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants.  
 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditors (Hall Chadwick) for non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out below. 
 

 2012 2011 
 $ $ 
(a) Taxation Services   
Tax compliance services, including review of Company income tax returns 4,250 8,135 
Total remuneration for taxation services 4,250 8,135 
   
(b) Advisory Services   
Consulting services 48,000 4,000 
Total remuneration for advisory services 48,000 4,000 
Total remuneration for non-audit services 52,250 12,135 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 the auditor’s independence declaration for 
year ended 30 June 2012 has been received and can be found on page 16 of the Annual Report and forms 
part of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
 

 
 
Matthew James 
Managing Director 
 
 
 
Dated this 28 September 2012 
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FORGE RESOURCES LTD - ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 
 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
 
The Company has adopted a comprehensive system of control and accountability as the basis for the 
administration of corporate governance. 
 
The Board is responsible to Shareholders for the overall management of the Company’s business and 
affairs. The Directors’ overriding objective is to increase Shareholder value within an appropriate 
framework, which protects the rights and interests of Shareholders and ensures the Company is properly 
managed. 
 
The Board is committed to administering the policies and procedures with openness and integrity, pursuing 
the true spirit of corporate governance commensurate with the Company's needs. To the extent they are 
applicable, the Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd 
edition) (“Principles & Recommendations”) as published by ASX Corporate Governance Council. 
 
The Company’s corporate governance principles and policies are structured with reference to the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd edition) 
with 2010 Amendments (“Principles and Recommendations”), which are as follows: 
 

Recommendation 1  Lay solid foundations for management and oversight; 
Recommendation 2  Structure the Board to add value; 
Recommendation 3  Promote ethical and responsible decision making; 
Recommendation 4  Safeguard integrity in financial reporting; 
Recommendation 5  Make timely and balanced disclosures; 
Recommendation 6  Respect the rights of shareholders; 
Recommendation 7  Recognise and manage risk; 
Recommendation 8  Remunerate fairly and responsibly; 

 
In accordance with recommendations of the ASX, information published on the Company’s web site 
includes charters of Board and its subcommittees, codes of conduct and other policies and procedures 
relating to the Board and its responsibilities. A copy of the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement 
can be found on the Company’s website www.forgeresources.com.au under the Corporate Governance 
Section. 
 
To the extent that they are relevant to the organisation, the Company has adopted the eight Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd edition) ("Principles and Recommendations") as 
published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council. 
 
The Board will consider on an ongoing basis its Corporate Governance procedures and whether they are 
sufficient as the Company’s activities develop in size, nature and scope. 
 
The Board sets out below its "if not, why not" report. Where the Company's corporate governance 
practices follow a recommendation, the Board has made appropriate statements reporting on the adoption 
of the recommendation. Where, after due consideration, the Company's corporate governance practices 
depart from a recommendation, the Board has offered full disclosure and reason for the adoption of its 
own practice, in compliance with the "if not, why not" regime. 
 
The table below summarises the eight principles and recommendations (P&R) and those recommendations 
not adopted by the Company. 
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ASX 

P&R1 
If not, 

why not2  
ASX 

P&R1 
If not, 

why not2 

Recommendation 1.1   Recommendation 4.3   

Recommendation 1.2   Recommendation 4.43 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 1.33 n/a n/a Recommendation 5.1   

Recommendation 2.1   Recommendation 5.23 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 2.2   Recommendation 6.1   

Recommendation 2.3   Recommendation 6.23 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 2.4   Recommendation 7.1   

Recommendation 2.5   Recommendation 7.2   

Recommendation 2.63 n/a n/a Recommendation 7.3   

Recommendation 3.1   Recommendation 7.43 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 3.2   Recommendation 8.1   
Recommendation 3.3   Recommendation 8.2   

Recommendation 3.4   Recommendation 8.3   

Recommendation 3.53 n/a n/a Recommendation 8.43 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 4.1      

Recommendation 4.2      
 
Notes 
1  Indicates where the Company has followed the Principles and Recommendations. 
2  Indicates where the Company has provided "if not, why not" disclosure. 
3  Indicates an information based recommendation. Information based recommendations are not 

adopted or reported against using "if not, why not" disclosure – information required is either 
provided or it is not. 

 
Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 
Recommendation 1.1: Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated 
to senior executives and disclose those functions. 
 
Recommendation 1.2: Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior 
executives. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
As contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement, the Chairman will review the 
performance of all Senior Executives on an ongoing basis by way of informal meetings and report his 
findings to the Board. 
 
Recommendation 1.3: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 1. 
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ASX 

P&R1 
If not, 

why not2  
ASX 

P&R1 
If not, 

why not2 

Recommendation 1.1   Recommendation 4.3   

Recommendation 1.2   Recommendation 4.43 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 1.33 n/a n/a Recommendation 5.1   
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Recommendation 2.2   Recommendation 6.1   

Recommendation 2.3   Recommendation 6.23 n/a n/a 
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Recommendation 2.63 n/a n/a Recommendation 7.3   

Recommendation 3.1   Recommendation 7.43 n/a n/a 
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Recommendation 3.4   Recommendation 8.3   

Recommendation 3.53 n/a n/a Recommendation 8.43 n/a n/a 

Recommendation 4.1      

Recommendation 4.2      
 
Notes 
1  Indicates where the Company has followed the Principles and Recommendations. 
2  Indicates where the Company has provided "if not, why not" disclosure. 
3  Indicates an information based recommendation. Information based recommendations are not 

adopted or reported against using "if not, why not" disclosure – information required is either 
provided or it is not. 

 
Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
 
Recommendation 1.1: Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated 
to senior executives and disclose those functions. 
 
Recommendation 1.2: Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior 
executives. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
As contained in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement, the Chairman will review the 
performance of all Senior Executives on an ongoing basis by way of informal meetings and report his 
findings to the Board. 
 
Recommendation 1.3: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 1. 
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Disclosure: 
 
A summary of the Company's Board Charter and functions reserved for the Board and Executive Chairman 
is available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate 
Governance. 
 
Principle 2 – Structure to the Board to add value 
 
Recommendation 2.1: A majority of the Board should be Independent Directors 
 
Notification of Departure: 
 
1 of 5 Directors is classified as independent. 
 
Explanation for Departure: 
 
The Company's Constitution requires that the minimum number of Directors is 3. The Company presently 
has five Directors consisting of four Non-Executive Directors and one Managing Director. Of the Directors, 
only Mr Emmanuel Correia, a Non-Executive Director is considered as independent. Mr Nicholas Curtis is 
the Non-Executive Chairman and is a substantial shareholder of the Company, Dr Matthew James is the 
Managing Director of the Company, Mr Harold Wang is a Non-Executive Director and has been a principal 
of a material adviser to the Company and Mr Michael Wolley has been appointed as a representative of a 
related body corporate of Todd which purchased a 25% interest in Balla Balla and is a substantial 
shareholder of Forge.  
 
The Board seeks to ensure that, where practical, a majority of the Board will be independent. The Board 
has adopted specific principles in relation to directors’ independence. These specific principles are available 
on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate 
Governance. 
 
Recommendation 2.2: The Chair should be an independent director. 
 
Notification of Departure: 
 
The Chair, Nicholas Curtis is not an independent Director by virtue of his shareholding in the Company. 
 
Explanation for Departure 
 
The Board believes that the composition of the Board is both appropriate and acceptable at this stage of 
the Company’s development and includes an appropriate mix of skills and expertise, relevant to the 
Company's current business. 
 
Recommendation 2.4: The board should establish a nomination committee. 
 
Notification of Departure: 
 
The Company has not established a separate Nomination Committee. 
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Explanation for Departure: 
The full Board considers those matters that would usually be the responsibility of a nomination committee. 
 
Given the size of the Board and the Company's current operations, the Board considers that no efficiencies 
or other benefits would be gained by establishing a separate committee. Items that are usually required to 
be discussed by a Nomination Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings when 
required. When the Board convenes as the Nomination Committee it will operate under the Nomination 
Committee Charter. The Nomination Committee Charter provides for the Board to meet at least annually 
and otherwise as required. 
 
Recommendation 2.5: Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, 
its committees and individual Directors. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The full Board, in its capacity as the Nomination Committee, is responsible for evaluating the performance 
of the Board, its committees and individual Directors. The Board, committees and individual Directors are 
evaluated annually by way of informal meetings and/or internal questionnaires. 
 
Recommendation 2.6: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 2. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The independent Director, Emmanuel Correia is independent as he is a Non-Executive Director, not a 
member of management and is free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere 
with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the independent exercise of his 
judgment. 
 
To assist Directors with independent judgement, it is the Board's policy that the Directors may seek 
independent professional advice at the Company's expense, subject to prior consultation with the Chair of 
the Board. 
 
The full Board carries out the role of the Nomination Committee. To assist the Board to fulfil its function as 
the Nomination Committee, it has adopted Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter, which is 
publicly available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section, marked 
Corporate Governance. 
 
In determining candidates for the Board, the full Board in its capacity as the Nomination Committee follows 
a prescribed procedure which is publicly available on the Company's website at 
www.forgeresources.com.au  under the section marked Corporate Governance.  
 
The Board recognises that Board renewal is critical to performance and the impact of Board tenure on 
succession planning. Under the Company's Constitution, if there are 3 or more Directors then one third of 
the Directors (excluding the Managing Director) must retire at every annual general meeting. Retiring 
directors are eligible for re-election. Re-appointment of Directors is not automatic. 
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Explanation for Departure: 
The full Board considers those matters that would usually be the responsibility of a nomination committee. 
 
Given the size of the Board and the Company's current operations, the Board considers that no efficiencies 
or other benefits would be gained by establishing a separate committee. Items that are usually required to 
be discussed by a Nomination Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings when 
required. When the Board convenes as the Nomination Committee it will operate under the Nomination 
Committee Charter. The Nomination Committee Charter provides for the Board to meet at least annually 
and otherwise as required. 
 
Recommendation 2.5: Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, 
its committees and individual Directors. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The full Board, in its capacity as the Nomination Committee, is responsible for evaluating the performance 
of the Board, its committees and individual Directors. The Board, committees and individual Directors are 
evaluated annually by way of informal meetings and/or internal questionnaires. 
 
Recommendation 2.6: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 2. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
The independent Director, Emmanuel Correia is independent as he is a Non-Executive Director, not a 
member of management and is free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere 
with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the independent exercise of his 
judgment. 
 
To assist Directors with independent judgement, it is the Board's policy that the Directors may seek 
independent professional advice at the Company's expense, subject to prior consultation with the Chair of 
the Board. 
 
The full Board carries out the role of the Nomination Committee. To assist the Board to fulfil its function as 
the Nomination Committee, it has adopted Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter, which is 
publicly available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section, marked 
Corporate Governance. 
 
In determining candidates for the Board, the full Board in its capacity as the Nomination Committee follows 
a prescribed procedure which is publicly available on the Company's website at 
www.forgeresources.com.au  under the section marked Corporate Governance.  
 
The Board recognises that Board renewal is critical to performance and the impact of Board tenure on 
succession planning. Under the Company's Constitution, if there are 3 or more Directors then one third of 
the Directors (excluding the Managing Director) must retire at every annual general meeting. Retiring 
directors are eligible for re-election. Re-appointment of Directors is not automatic. 
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Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 
 
Recommendation 3.2: The entity has established a policy concerning diversity and has disclosed the policy 
or a summary of that policy on its website at www.forgeresources.com.au. The policy includes 
requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the 
Board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them. 
 
The Company recognises that a diverse and talented workforce is a competitive advantage and that the 
Company’s success will be the result of the quality and skills of its people. The Company’s policy is to recruit 
and manage on the basis of qualification for the position and performance, regardless of gender, age, 
nationality, race, religious beliefs, cultural background, sexuality or physical ability.  
 
Forge is committed to maintaining diversity within its workforce at all levels, and to do this end sets a 
minimum target of 15% women in Board/Senior Executive Positions to encourage gender diversity. Such 
targets are important but the overriding factor will be the employment of the best person for the role. 
 
Below are details of the Company’s gender diversity numbers.  
 

Gender Diversity Male Female 
Total Staff (incl. Board) 10 2 
Senior 
Executives/Directors 

2 1 

Non-Executive Directors 4 - 
 
Recommendation 3.3: The entity has disclosed in the annual report the measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity set by the Board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving 
them. 
 
Recommendation 3.4: The entity has disclosed in the annual report the proportion of women employees in 
the whole organization and women in senior executive positions or on the Board. 
 
Recommendation 3.5: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 3. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
Forge has established a Code of Conduct and a Share Trading policy which all executives and employees are 
expected at a minimum to follow. The Company’s Code of Conduct and Share Trading policy is available on 
the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
 
Recommendation 4.2: The audit committee should be structured so that it: 

• consists only of non-executive directors; 
• consists of a majority of independent Directors; 
• is chaired by an independent chair; who is not chair of the Board; and 
• has at least three members. 
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Notification of Departure: 
 
Currently the Audit Committee does not consist of a majority of independent Directors. 
 
Explanation for Departure: 
 
The full Board considers the current members of the Audit Committee have the requisite skill and 
background to carry out tasks pursuant to the Audit Committee Charter whilst maintaining independent 
thought and judgement. 
 
Recommendation 4.4: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 4. 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has a Risk Management Policy and an Audit and Risk Management Committee Charter, a 
copy of which is available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section 
marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
Recommendation 5.2: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 5. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
A summary of the Company's policy to guide compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure is available on the 
Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
Recommendation 6.2: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 6. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
A summary of the Company's shareholder communication strategy is available on the Company's website 
at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 
 
Recommendation 7.3: the Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 
is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting. 
 
The Board intends to seek written assurance from the Managing Director and CFO (or equivalent) in 
relation to the above statement. 
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Notification of Departure: 
 
Currently the Audit Committee does not consist of a majority of independent Directors. 
 
Explanation for Departure: 
 
The full Board considers the current members of the Audit Committee have the requisite skill and 
background to carry out tasks pursuant to the Audit Committee Charter whilst maintaining independent 
thought and judgement. 
 
Recommendation 4.4: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 4. 
Disclosure: 
 
The Company has a Risk Management Policy and an Audit and Risk Management Committee Charter, a 
copy of which is available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section 
marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 
 
Recommendation 5.2: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 5. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
A summary of the Company's policy to guide compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure is available on the 
Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders 
 
Recommendation 6.2: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 6. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
A summary of the Company's shareholder communication strategy is available on the Company's website 
at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 
 
Recommendation 7.3: the Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 
is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting. 
 
The Board intends to seek written assurance from the Managing Director and CFO (or equivalent) in 
relation to the above statement. 
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Recommendation 7.4: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to Reporting on 
Principle 7. 
 
The Company has established an Audit and Risk Management Committee to monitor and review on behalf 
of the Board the system of risk management, which the Company has established. This system aims to 
identify, assess, monitor and manage operational and compliance risks. In addition the Company has 
established a Risk Management policy to ensure that procedures are in place to identify, monitor and 
report on risks facing the Company. 
 
A copy of the Audit and Risk Management Charter and the Risk Management policy is available on the 
Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate Governance. 
 
Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
 
Recommendation 8.1: The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. 

 
Recommendation 8.2: The remuneration committee is structured so that it: 

- consists of a majority of independent directors 
- is chaired by an independent chair 
- has at least three members. 

 
Notification of Departure: 
 
The Company has not established a separate Remuneration Committee. 
 
Explanation for Departure: 
 
The full Board considers those matters that would usually be the responsibility of a remuneration 
committee. 
 
Given the size of the Board and the Company's current operations, the Board considers that no efficiencies 
or other benefits would be gained by establishing a separate committee. Items that are usually required to 
be discussed by a Remuneration Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings when 
required. When the Board convenes as the Remuneration Committee it will operate under the 
Remuneration Committee Charter. The Remuneration Committee Charter provides for the Board to meet 
at least annually and otherwise as required. 
 
Under the Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter, the role of the Board (when convening as 
the Remuneration Committee) is to review the Company's remuneration practices and policies and 
establish appropriate remuneration levels including incentive policies for Directors and senior executives. 
 
Recommendation 8.4: Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on 
Principle 8. 
 
Disclosure: 
 
As noted above, the full Board performs the function of the Remuneration Committee. To assist the Board 
to fulfil this function, it has adopted Remuneration and Nomination Committee Charter, a copy of which is 
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available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate 
Governance. 
 
The explanation for departure set out under Recommendation 8.1 above explains how the functions of the 
Remuneration Committee are performed. 
 
There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive Directors (other than for 
superannuation). 
 
It is the Company's policy to prohibit transactions in associated products which limit the risk of participating 
in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes. 
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available on the Company's website at www.forgeresources.com.au under the section marked Corporate 
Governance. 
 
The explanation for departure set out under Recommendation 8.1 above explains how the functions of the 
Remuneration Committee are performed. 
 
There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive Directors (other than for 
superannuation). 
 
It is the Company's policy to prohibit transactions in associated products which limit the risk of participating 
in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2012. 

 Note 2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Revenue 2 165,105 727,566 
Consultancy expenses  (1,746,349) (524,486) 
Professional fees  (103,318) (46,989) 
Legal fees and listing fees  (1,158,685) (367,125) 
Employee benefits expenses  (683,822) (19,783) 
Occupancy expenses  (207,879) (54,796) 
Directors remuneration  (82,667) (100,167) 
Share-based payments  (7,920,000) (1,315,200) 
Equity-based compensation  (1,326,251) (1,887) 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  (5,762) (1,665) 
Other expenses  (647,764) (76,286) 

Loss before income tax 3 (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 
Income tax expense  - - 

Loss after income tax 4 (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 

    
Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - 

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 
members of the Parent Entity  (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 

 
  Cents Cents 
Earnings per share    
From continuing operations:    
Basic and diluted loss per share 22 (17.7) (8.7) 

 
The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
 
As at 30 June 2012. 

 Note 2012 2011 
  $ $ 
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 6 9,720,297 2,923,991 
Trade and other receivables 7 459,120 9,021 
Other current assets 10 126,095 - 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  10,305,512 2,933,012 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Plant and equipment 8 16,406 22,168 
Other Assets 9 33,390,109 813,622 
Deposits 10 - 126,095 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  33,406,515 961,885 

TOTAL ASSETS  43,712,027 3,894,897 
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 12 2,666,015 179,178 
Short term provisions 13 47,255 1,449 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,713,270 180,627 
    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Borrowings 14 27,500,000 - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  27,500,000 - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  30,213,270 180,627 
    

NET ASSETS  13,498,757 3,714,270 
    

EQUITY    
Issued capital 15 26,239,259 5,546,831 
Reserves  1,496,138 1,887 
Accumulated losses  (14,236,640) (1,834,448) 

TOTAL EQUITY  13,498,757 3,714,270 
 
 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2012. 

 Note 2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Revenue 2 165,105 727,566 
Consultancy expenses  (1,746,349) (524,486) 
Professional fees  (103,318) (46,989) 
Legal fees and listing fees  (1,158,685) (367,125) 
Employee benefits expenses  (683,822) (19,783) 
Occupancy expenses  (207,879) (54,796) 
Directors remuneration  (82,667) (100,167) 
Share-based payments  (7,920,000) (1,315,200) 
Equity-based compensation  (1,326,251) (1,887) 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  (5,762) (1,665) 
Other expenses  (647,764) (76,286) 

Loss before income tax 3 (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 
Income tax expense  - - 

Loss after income tax 4 (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 

    
Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - 

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 
members of the Parent Entity  (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 

 
  Cents Cents 
Earnings per share    
From continuing operations:    
Basic and diluted loss per share 22 (17.7) (8.7) 

 
The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 
 

 

Ordinary 
Issued 
Capital 

Performance 
Shares 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

For the year ended 30 June 
2012    

  

Balance at 1 July 2011 4,231,631 1,315,200 (1,834,448) 1,887 3,714,270 
      

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year - - (13,717,392) 

 
- 

 
(13,717,392) 

      

Cancellation of performance 
shares - (1,315,200) 1,315,200 

 
- 

 
- 

Shares issued during the year 23,371,000 - - - 23,371,000 
Transaction costs (1,363,372) - - - (1,363,372) 
Options issued on recognition of 
services provided - - - 

 
1,019,500 

 
1,019,500 

Options issued under Employee 
Incentive Plan - - - 

 
474,751 

 
474,751 

Balance at 30 June 2012 26,239,259 - (14,236,640) 1,496,138 13,498,757 
      

For the year ended 30 June 
2011    

  

Balance at 30 June 2010 125,575 - 
 

(53,630) 
 
- 

 
71,945 

      
Total comprehensive loss for 
the period - - (1,780,818) 

 
- 

 
(1,780,818) 

      

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:    

  

Shares issued during the year 4,495,535 1,315,200 - - 5,810,735 
Transaction costs (389,479) - - - (389,479) 
Options issued under Employee 
Incentive Plan - - - 

 
1,887 

 
1,887 

Balance at 30 June 2011 4,231,631 1,315,200 (1,834,448) 1,887 3,714,270 
 
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2012. 

 Note 2012 2011 
  $ $ 
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts from customers  20,721 672,670 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (2,500,263) (1,301,743) 
Interest received  146,268 116,048 

Net cash used in operating activities 19(b) (2,333,274) (513,025) 
    

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments for property, plant and equipment  - (23,833) 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure  (1,255,298) (151,229) 
Acquisition of tenements  (30,705,000) (50,000) 

Net cash used in Investing activities  (31,960,298) (225,062) 
    

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from borrowings  27,500,000 - 
Proceeds from the issue of shares  15,000,000 3,895,535 
Capital raising costs  (1,410,122) (467,420) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  41,089,878 3,428,115 
    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held  6,796,306 2,690,028 
Cash at beginning of year  2,923,991 233,963 

Cash at end of period 19(a) 9,720,297 2,923,991 
 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Ordinary 
Issued 
Capital 

Performance 
Shares 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Share 
Based 

Payment 
Reserve Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

For the year ended 30 June 
2012    

  

Balance at 1 July 2011 4,231,631 1,315,200 (1,834,448) 1,887 3,714,270 
      

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year - - (13,717,392) 

 
- 

 
(13,717,392) 

      

Cancellation of performance 
shares - (1,315,200) 1,315,200 

 
- 

 
- 

Shares issued during the year 23,371,000 - - - 23,371,000 
Transaction costs (1,363,372) - - - (1,363,372) 
Options issued on recognition of 
services provided - - - 

 
1,019,500 

 
1,019,500 

Options issued under Employee 
Incentive Plan - - - 

 
474,751 

 
474,751 

Balance at 30 June 2012 26,239,259 - (14,236,640) 1,496,138 13,498,757 
      

For the year ended 30 June 
2011    

  

Balance at 30 June 2010 125,575 - 
 

(53,630) 
 
- 

 
71,945 

      
Total comprehensive loss for 
the period - - (1,780,818) 

 
- 

 
(1,780,818) 

      

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:    

  

Shares issued during the year 4,495,535 1,315,200 - - 5,810,735 
Transaction costs (389,479) - - - (389,479) 
Options issued under Employee 
Incentive Plan - - - 

 
1,887 

 
1,887 

Balance at 30 June 2011 4,231,631 1,315,200 (1,834,448) 1,887 3,714,270 
 
 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
These consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Forge Resources Ltd and Controlled 
Entities (the “consolidated group” or “group”). 
 
The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Forge Resources Ltd, have not been presented 
within this financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 28 September 2012 by the directors of the company. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The 
Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in 
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and 
conditions. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and 
notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB. Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have 
been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
Going concern basis of accounting 
 
Notwithstanding the net loss after income tax for the consolidated entity for the financial year ended was 
$13,717,392 (2011: $1,780,818), the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
The Directors are managing the Company’s cash flows carefully to meet its operational commitments. The 
Company has been successful in raising share capital of $15,000,000 during the year and has $9,720,297 in 
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year. The Directors consider that the going concern basis is 
appropriate for the following reasons: 
 
The Company has sufficient working capital to carry out its stated objectives for at least 12 months from 
the date of this report. If the Company undertakes an acquisition of additional project(s) then it may have 
to raise additional capital to fund the development of these, however no allowance for such circumstances 
has been made in the financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Accounting Policies 
 
(a) Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by 
Forge Resources Ltd at the end of the reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which Forge 
Resources Ltd has the ability and right to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits 
from the entity’s activities. 
 
Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of 
those entities is included only for the period of the year that they were controlled. A list of controlled 
entities is contained in Note 23 to the financial statements. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between 
entities in the consolidated group have been eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
Non-controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a 
parent, are reported separately within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial 
position and statement of comprehensive income. The non-controlling interests in the net assets comprise 
their interests at the date of the original business combination and their share of changes in equity since 
that date. 
 
(b) Revenue 
 
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to 
the financial assets. 
 
Other revenue is recognised as it accrues. 
 
(c)  Income tax 
 
The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and 
deferred tax expense (income). 
 
Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income. Current tax 
liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant 
taxation authority. 
 
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances 
during the year as well unused tax losses. 
 
Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when the 
tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss. 
 
Except for business combination, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.  
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been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 
 
Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
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$13,717,392 (2011: $1,780,818), the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
The Directors are managing the Company’s cash flows carefully to meet its operational commitments. The 
Company has been successful in raising share capital of $15,000,000 during the year and has $9,720,297 in 
cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year. The Directors consider that the going concern basis is 
appropriate for the following reasons: 
 
The Company has sufficient working capital to carry out its stated objectives for at least 12 months from 
the date of this report. If the Company undertakes an acquisition of additional project(s) then it may have 
to raise additional capital to fund the development of these, however no allowance for such circumstances 
has been made in the financial statements. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which 
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the 
deferred tax asset can be utilised. 
 
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where : (a) a legally enforceable right of set-
off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in 
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered 
or settled. 
 
(d)  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
(e)  Exploration and development expenditure 
 
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of each 
identifiable area of interest. These costs are capitalised to the extent that they are expected to be 
recovered through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet 
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which 
the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over 
the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
capitalise costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 
Costs of site restoration are provided for over the life of the project from when exploration commences 
and are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of 
mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in 
accordance with local laws and regulations and clauses of the permits. Such costs have been determined 
using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 
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Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of 
site restoration, there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community 
expectations and future legislation. Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that the 
restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site. 
(f)  Foreign currency transactions and balances 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, which is the parent entity’s functional currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. 
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date 
when fair values were determined. Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are 
recognised in the profit or loss, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment 
hedge.  
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 
income; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Group companies 
 
The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different from the 
Group’s presentation currency, are translated as follows: 
–  assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period;  
– income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 
–  retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies other than 
Australian dollars are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in the foreign currency 
translation reserve in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period in which the operation is disposed. 
 
 (g) Financial instruments 
 
Initial recognition and initial measurement 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the Company commits 
itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).  
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which 
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the 
deferred tax asset can be utilised. 
 
Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where : (a) a legally enforceable right of set-
off exists; and (b) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in 
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered 
or settled. 
 
(d)  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
(e)  Exploration and development expenditure 
 
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditures incurred are capitalised in respect of each 
identifiable area of interest. These costs are capitalised to the extent that they are expected to be 
recovered through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet 
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which 
the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over 
the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
capitalise costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 
Costs of site restoration are provided for over the life of the project from when exploration commences 
and are included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of 
mining plant, equipment and building structures, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in 
accordance with local laws and regulations and clauses of the permits. Such costs have been determined 
using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 
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Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the 
instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to 
profit or loss immediately. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Finance instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, or cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at 
initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any 
cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated 
using the effective interest method. 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are 
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including 
fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be 
reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an 
adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or 
loss. 
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being 
subject to the requirements of Accounting Standards specifically applicable to financial instruments. 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for 

the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
Group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the 

financial asset is derecognised. 
(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 
 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 

or determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss 
through the amortisation process and when the financial asset is derecognised. 

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 Available-for-sale investment are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of being 

classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or they are designated as such 
by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a 
fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 
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 They are subsequently measured at fair value with any remeasurements other than impairment 

losses and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income. When the 
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss pertaining to that asset previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified into profit or loss. 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets where they are expected to be 
sold after 12 months from the end of the reporting period. All other available-for-sale financial 
assets are classified as current assets. 

(v) Financial liabilities 
 Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and 
when the financial liability is derecognised. 

 
Derivative instruments  
 
The Group designates certain derivatives as either: 
i. hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or 
ii. hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges). 
At the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as 
well as the Group’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions, is 
documented. 
Assessments, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values 
or cash flows of hedged items, are also documented. 
(i) Fair value hedge 
 Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as fair value hedges are 

recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, together with any changes in the fair value of 
hedged assets or liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

(ii) Cash flow hedge 
 The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 

cash flow hedges is deferred to a hedge reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Amounts accumulated in the hedge reserve in equity are transferred to the statement of comprehensive 
income in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. 
 
Preferred shares 
 
Preferred share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable or redeemable only at the discretion of 
the parent Company, and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as 
distributions within equity upon declaration by the directors. 
 
Preferred share capital is classified as a liability if it is redeemable on a set date or at the option of the 
shareholders, or where the dividends are mandatory. Dividends thereon are recognised as interest expense 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the 
instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to 
profit or loss immediately. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Finance instruments are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, or cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at 
initial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment, and adjusted for any 
cumulative amortisation of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount calculated 
using the effective interest method. 
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are 
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 
The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period and is equivalent to the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including 
fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) over the expected life (or when this cannot be 
reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an 
adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense item in profit or 
loss. 
The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being 
subject to the requirements of Accounting Standards specifically applicable to financial instruments. 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 Financial assets are classified at “fair value through profit or loss” when they are held for trading for 

the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are 
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a 
Group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process and when the 

financial asset is derecognised. 
(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 
 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 

or determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss 
through the amortisation process and when the financial asset is derecognised. 

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 Available-for-sale investment are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of being 

classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or they are designated as such 
by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a 
fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. 
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Impairment  
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) having occurred, which has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market value of the 
instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss at this point. 
In the case of financial assets carried at amostied cost, loss events may include: indications that the debtors 
or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance 
account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses. After having 
taken all possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be 
recovered by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or the 
carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly if no impairment amount was previously 
recognised in the allowance account. 
When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been 
renegotiated, the Group recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account the 
original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred are 
duly considered. 
 
Financial guarantees 
 
Where material, financial guarantees issued that require the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due are 
recognised as a financial liability at fair value on initial recognition.  
The fair value of financial guarantee contracts has been assessed using a probability-weighted discounted 
cash flow approach. The probability has been based on: 
- the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting during the next reporting period; 
- the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered due to the guaranteed party 

defaulting; and 
- the maximum loss exposure if the guaranteed party were to default. 
Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of the best estimate of the obligation in 
accordance with AASB 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation in accordance with AASB 118: Revenue. Where 
the entity gives guarantees in exchange for a fee, revenue is recognised under AASB 118. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying value of the 
financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, 
including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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 (h)  Goods and services tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). Receivables and payables are stated 
inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.  
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash 
flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.  
 
(i)  Employee benefits 
 
Provision is made for the consolidated group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered 
by employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within 
one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. Employee 
benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made for those benefits. 
 
(j)  Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of 
past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can 
be reliably measured. 
 
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end 
of the reporting period.  
 
(k)  Earnings per share 
 
Basic loss per share is determined by dividing the operating loss after income tax attributable to members 
of the Parent Entity by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 
year.  
 
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share by taking into 
account any reduction in earnings per share that will probably arise from the exercise of options 
outstanding during the financial year.  
 
When the consolidated group has an operating loss after income tax and the conversion of ordinary share 
capital in respect of potential ordinary shares does not lead to a diluted earnings per share that shows an 
inferior view of the earnings performance of the consolidated group, than is shown by basic loss per share, 
the diluted loss per share is reported the same as basic loss per share. 
 
(l)  Equity-settled compensation 
 
The consolidated group may operate equity-settled share-based payment employee share and option 
schemes. The fair value of the equity to which employees become entitled is measured at grant date and 
recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to an equity account. The 
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Impairment  
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events (a “loss event”) having occurred, which has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset(s). 
In the case of available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the market value of the 
instrument is considered to constitute a loss event. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Also, any cumulative decline in fair value previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss at this point. 
In the case of financial assets carried at amostied cost, loss events may include: indications that the debtors 
or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments, indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and 
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate allowance 
account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit losses. After having 
taken all possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the carrying amount cannot be 
recovered by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are charged to the allowance account or the 
carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced directly if no impairment amount was previously 
recognised in the allowance account. 
When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been 
renegotiated, the Group recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account the 
original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have occurred are 
duly considered. 
 
Financial guarantees 
 
Where material, financial guarantees issued that require the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due are 
recognised as a financial liability at fair value on initial recognition.  
The fair value of financial guarantee contracts has been assessed using a probability-weighted discounted 
cash flow approach. The probability has been based on: 
- the likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting during the next reporting period; 
- the proportion of the exposure that is not expected to be recovered due to the guaranteed party 

defaulting; and 
- the maximum loss exposure if the guaranteed party were to default. 
Financial guarantees are subsequently measured at the higher of the best estimate of the obligation in 
accordance with AASB 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially 
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation in accordance with AASB 118: Revenue. Where 
the entity gives guarantees in exchange for a fee, revenue is recognised under AASB 118. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expire or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying value of the 
financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, 
including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price. The fair value of options is ascertained using a 
Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. The number of shares and 
options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting date such that the amount 
recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the 
number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 
 
(m)  Segment reporting 
 
The consolidated group identifies its reportable operating segments based on the internal reports that are 
reviewed by the Board of Directors. Corporate office activities are not allocated to operating segment and 
form part of the balance of unallocated revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities. 
 
(n)  Plant and Equipment 
 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the 
estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a 
revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess 
of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 
All repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life 
to the consolidated group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 
Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
Plant and equipment 20 - 33.33% 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

46

noteS to the financial StatementS
for the year ended 30 June 2012



 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, 
amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
 
(o)  Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of 
future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the 
consolidated group. 
 
(p)  Impairment of Assets 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of information, 
including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities deemed to be out of 
pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by 
comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its 
recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g. in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116). 
Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other 
Standard. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. 
 
(q)  Comparative Figures 
 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
 
(r) Interests in Joint Ventures 
 
The Group’s shares of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of jointly controlled operations have 
been included in the appropriate line items of the consolidated financial statements. Details of the Group’s 
interests are provided in Note 11. 
 
The Group’s interests in joint venture entities are recorded using the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Where the Group contributes assets to the joint venture or if the Group purchases assets from the joint 
venture, only the portion of the gain or loss that is not attributable to the Group’s share of the joint venture 
shall be recognised. The Group recognises the full amount of any loss when the contribution results in a 
reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss. 
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fair value of shares is ascertained as the market bid price. The fair value of options is ascertained using a 
Black–Scholes pricing model which incorporates all market vesting conditions. The number of shares and 
options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting date such that the amount 
recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the 
number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 
 
(m)  Segment reporting 
 
The consolidated group identifies its reportable operating segments based on the internal reports that are 
reviewed by the Board of Directors. Corporate office activities are not allocated to operating segment and 
form part of the balance of unallocated revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities. 
 
(n)  Plant and Equipment 
 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to the 
estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a 
revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. 
 
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess 
of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The 
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. 
 
All repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income during 
the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation 
 
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life 
to the consolidated group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. 
 
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 
Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
Plant and equipment 20 - 33.33% 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
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(s)  Trade and Other Receivables 
 
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
 
(t)  Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain 
unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognized as a current liability with the amounts 
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 
 
(u)  New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 
 
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Group. The 
Group has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended pronouncements. The Group’s 
assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Group but applicable in 
future reporting periods is set out below: 
 

–  AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 These Standards are applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition 
requirements for financial instruments.  

 The key changes made to accounting requirements include: 

 - simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those 
carried at fair value; 

 - simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 

 - removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 

 - removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets 
carried at amortised cost; 

 - allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments 
in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in 
respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss 
and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument; 
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 - requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business model 
as they are initially classified based on: (a) the objective of the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual cash flows; and 

 - requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the 
portion of the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other 
comprehensive income, except when that would create an accounting mismatch. If such a 
mismatch would be created or enlarged, the entity is required to present all changes in fair 
value (including the effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability) in profit or loss. 

 The Group has not yet been able to reasonably estimate the impact of these pronouncements on its 
financial statements. 

– AASB 2010–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of 
Underlying Assets [AASB 112] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012). 

 This Standard makes amendments to AASB 112: Income Taxes and incorporates Interpretation 121: 
Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets into AASB 112. 

 Under the current AASB 112, the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
depends on whether an entity expects to recover an asset by using it or by selling it. The 
amendments introduce a presumption that an investment property is recovered entirely through 
sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is held within a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment 
property over time, rather than through sale. 

 The amendments are not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

– AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11: Joint Arrangements, AASB 12: Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities, AASB 127: Separate Financial Statements (August 2011), AASB 128: 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (August 2011) and AASB 2011–7: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009–11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 
and Interpretations 5, 9, 16 & 17] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 
1 January 2013). 

 AASB 10 replaces parts of AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (March 2008, 
as amended) and Interpretation 112: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. AASB 10 provides a 
revised definition of control and additional application guidance so that a single control model will 
apply to all investees. The Group has not yet been able to reasonably estimate the impact of this 
Standard on its financial statements. 

 AASB 11 replaces AASB 131: Interests in Joint Ventures (July 2004, as amended). AASB 11 requires 
joint arrangements to be classified as either “joint operations” (where the parties that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities) or “joint 
ventures” (where the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 
of the arrangement). Joint ventures are required to adopt the equity method of accounting 
(proportionate consolidation is no longer allowed). 
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(s)  Trade and Other Receivables 
 
Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. 
 
(t)  Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain 
unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognized as a current liability with the amounts 
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 
 
(u)  New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 
 
The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the Group. The 
Group has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended pronouncements. The Group’s 
assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Group but applicable in 
future reporting periods is set out below: 
 

–  AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2010) and AASB 2010–7: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 These Standards are applicable retrospectively and include revised requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition 
requirements for financial instruments.  

 The key changes made to accounting requirements include: 

 - simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those 
carried at fair value; 

 - simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 

 - removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 

 - removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets 
carried at amortised cost; 

 - allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments 
in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in 
respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss 
and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument; 
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 AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a 
subsidiary, joint venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a 
“structured entity”, replacing the “special purpose entity” concept currently used in Interpretation 
112, and requires specific disclosures in respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured 
entities. This Standard will affect disclosures only and is not expected to significantly impact the 
Group. 

 To facilitate the application of AASBs 10, 11 and 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and AASB 128 have 
also been issued. These Standards are not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

– AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009–11, 2010–7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 
17, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 AASB 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single Standard a framework for measuring fair value, and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurement. 

 AASB 13 requires: 

 - inputs to all fair value measurements to be categorised in accordance with a fair value hierarchy; 
and 

 - enhanced disclosures regarding all assets and liabilities (including, but not limited to, financial 
assets and financial liabilities) to be measured at fair value. 

 These Standards are not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

– AASB 2011–9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049] (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2012). 

 The main change arising from this Standard is the requirement for entities to group items presented 
in other comprehensive income (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to 
profit or loss subsequently. 

 This Standard affects presentation only and is therefore not expected to significantly impact the 
Group. 

– AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011–10: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, AASB 8, AASB101, AASB124, 
AASB134, AASB1049 & AASB 2011–8 and Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 These Standards introduce a number of changes to accounting and presentation of defined benefit 
plans. The Group does not have any defined benefit plans and so is not impacted by the 
amendment. 
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 AASB 119 (September 2011) also includes changes to the accounting for termination benefits that 
require an entity to recognise an obligation for such benefits at the earlier of: 

 (i) for an offer that may be withdrawn – when the employee accepts; 

 (ii) for an offer that cannot be withdrawn – when the offer is communicated to affected 
employees; and 

 (iii) where the termination is associated with a restructuring of activities under AASB 137: 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and if earlier than the first two 
conditions – when the related restructuring costs are recognised. 

 The Group has not yet been able to reasonably estimate the impact of these changes to AASB 119. 

 
  2012 2011 
Note 2: Revenue  $ $ 
    
Non - operating activities    
- interest income  146,268 116,048 
- other income (i) 18,837 611,518 

  165,105 727,566 

(i) In 2011, other income included $600,000 (2011) received as 
settlement in relation to termination of the agreements for sub-
leases of the ‘Crown’ and ‘Swan’ deposits at Mt Weld .    
 
Note 3: Expenses    
    
Consulting fees  1,578,349 524,486 
Legal fees  1,053,292 367,125 
Licence and other fees  - 1,836 
Share registry fees  40,441 24,128 

  2,672,082 917,575 
 

Note 4: Income tax expense    
  2012 2011 
  $ $ 
(a) The components of income tax expense comprise:   
 Deferred tax  (983,349) (138,383) 
 Deferred tax assets not recognised  983,349 138,383 
  - - 
    

(b) The prima facie tax on loss from ordinary activities before 
income tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows:    
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 AASB 12 contains the disclosure requirements applicable to entities that hold an interest in a 
subsidiary, joint venture, joint operation or associate. AASB 12 also introduces the concept of a 
“structured entity”, replacing the “special purpose entity” concept currently used in Interpretation 
112, and requires specific disclosures in respect of any investments in unconsolidated structured 
entities. This Standard will affect disclosures only and is not expected to significantly impact the 
Group. 

 To facilitate the application of AASBs 10, 11 and 12, revised versions of AASB 127 and AASB 128 have 
also been issued. These Standards are not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

– AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011–8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009–11, 2010–7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 
17, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 AASB 13 defines fair value, sets out in a single Standard a framework for measuring fair value, and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurement. 

 AASB 13 requires: 

 - inputs to all fair value measurements to be categorised in accordance with a fair value hierarchy; 
and 

 - enhanced disclosures regarding all assets and liabilities (including, but not limited to, financial 
assets and financial liabilities) to be measured at fair value. 

 These Standards are not expected to significantly impact the Group. 

– AASB 2011–9: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049] (applicable for 
annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2012). 

 The main change arising from this Standard is the requirement for entities to group items presented 
in other comprehensive income (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to 
profit or loss subsequently. 

 This Standard affects presentation only and is therefore not expected to significantly impact the 
Group. 

– AASB 119: Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011–10: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, AASB 8, AASB101, AASB124, 
AASB134, AASB1049 & AASB 2011–8 and Interpretation 14] (applicable for annual reporting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2013). 

 These Standards introduce a number of changes to accounting and presentation of defined benefit 
plans. The Group does not have any defined benefit plans and so is not impacted by the 
amendment. 
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Prima facie tax benefit on the loss from ordinary activities before 
income tax at 30% (2011: 30%)  (3,808,449) (534,245) 
Add:    
Tax effect of:    
  Other non-allowable items  825 736 
  Share based payments expensed during year  2,824,275 395,126 
    

Less:    
Tax effect of:    
  Deferred tax assets not recognised  983,349 138,383 

Income tax expense/(benefit)  - - 
    

Tax losses 
The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as 
follows:    
Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) Not Brought to Account, the 
benefits of which will only be realised if the conditions for 
deductibility set out in Note (1c) occur:    
- Tax Losses  1,272,195 210,336 
- Temporary Differences  425,508 94,783 

Total  1,697,703 305,119 
 
The taxation benefits will only be obtained if: 
 
(i)  the consolidated group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to 

enable the benefit from the deduction for the loss to be realised; 
(ii)  the consolidated group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; 

and 
(iii)  no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated group in realising the benefits from 

the deductions for the loss. 
 
 
Note 5: Auditors’ remuneration 
 

  2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Remuneration of the auditor of the Parent Entity for:    
- auditing or reviewing the financial reports  51,068 34,148 
- taxation services  4,250 8,135 
- corporate services  48,000 4,000 
  103,318 46,283 
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Prima facie tax benefit on the loss from ordinary activities before 
income tax at 30% (2011: 30%)  (3,808,449) (534,245) 
Add:    
Tax effect of:    
  Other non-allowable items  825 736 
  Share based payments expensed during year  2,824,275 395,126 
    

Less:    
Tax effect of:    
  Deferred tax assets not recognised  983,349 138,383 

Income tax expense/(benefit)  - - 
    

Tax losses 
The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as 
follows:    
Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) Not Brought to Account, the 
benefits of which will only be realised if the conditions for 
deductibility set out in Note (1c) occur:    
- Tax Losses  1,272,195 210,336 
- Temporary Differences  425,508 94,783 

Total  1,697,703 305,119 
 
The taxation benefits will only be obtained if: 
 
(i)  the consolidated group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to 

enable the benefit from the deduction for the loss to be realised; 
(ii)  the consolidated group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; 

and 
(iii)  no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated group in realising the benefits from 

the deductions for the loss. 
 
 
Note 5: Auditors’ remuneration 
 

  2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Remuneration of the auditor of the Parent Entity for:    
- auditing or reviewing the financial reports  51,068 34,148 
- taxation services  4,250 8,135 
- corporate services  48,000 4,000 
  103,318 46,283 
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  2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Note 6: Cash and cash equivalents    
Cash at bank and on hand  9,720,297 2,923,991 

 
Note 7: Trade and other receivables    
    

Current    
Other receivables  459,120 9,021 

  459,120 9,021 
 
(a)  Effective interest rates and credit risk 
 
There is no interest rate risk for the balance of trade and other receivables. 
 
All amounts past due are considered impaired and provided against. All other receivables are within credit 
terms and not considered impaired. No amounts are past due as at 30 June 2012 (2011: Nil).  
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Note 8: Non-current assets –Plant and equipment  

Furniture, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment Total 

  $ $ 
Consolidated    
Year ended 30 June 2011    
Opening net book amount    
Additions  23,833 23,833 
Disposals  - - 
Depreciation charge  (1,665) (1,665) 

Closing net book amount  22,168 22,168 

At 30 June 2011    
Cost  23,833 23,833 
Accumulated depreciation  (1,665) (1,665) 

Net book amount  22,168 22,168 

Year ended 30 June 2012    
Opening net book amount  22,168 22,168 
Additions  - - 
Disposals  - - 
Depreciation charge  (5,762) (5,762) 

Closing net book amount  16,406 16,406 

At 30 June 2012    
Cost  23,833 23,833 
Accumulated depreciation  (7,427) (7,427) 

Net book amount  16,406 16,406 
 

  2012 2011 
Note 9: Other Assets  $ $ 
    

Non-current    
Tenements acquired  31,806,000 650,000 
Expenditure capitalised  1,584,109 163,622 

Carrying amount at end of the year  33,390,109 813,622 
 
Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful exploration and 
commercial exploitation of the tenements. 
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(1) Forge acquired the Balla Balla VTi Magnetite Project (“Balla Balla”) from Atlas Iron Limited (“Atlas”). 
Following the acquisition, Forge subsequently sold 25% to and entered into an unincorporated Joint 
Venture (“JV”) with a subsidiary of The Todd Corporation Limited of New Zealand (“Todd”) for the 
development of Balla Balla.  
 
(2) In September 2011 Forge achieved the right to explore and develop the West Eucla Mineral Sand Project 
by way of a farm in agreement whereby Forge has the right to earn 50.1% of the project by spending $2.0 
million within two years. Forge may either elect to earn a further 28.9% (total 80%) by spending a further 
$4.0 million over a further three year period, or acquire the project outright with a payment of $7.5 million 
and the grant of a 1.5% gross sales royalty. Should Forge earn-in to 80%, Forge then has the right to acquire 
the project outright for a payment of $5 million and the grant of a 1.0% gross sales royalty. As at 30 June 
2012 the amount spent is $688,891. 
 

  2012 2011 
Note 10: Deposits  $ $ 
Current     
Deposits  126,095 - 

  126,095 - 

Non Current    
Deposit  - 126,095 

  - 126,095 
 
Note 11: Joint Venture 

 Consolidated Group 
 2012 2011 

(a) Interest in Joint Venture Operations $ $ 

A controlled entity, Forge Resources Swan Pty Ltd, has a 75 % interest in an 
unincorporated joint venture, whose principal activity is exploration of the 
Balla Balla asset. The Company is the manager of the unincorporated joint 
venture. The joint venture commenced on 31 May 2012. 

  

The consolidated group share of assets employed in the joint venture is:   

CURRENT ASSETS   
Receivables:   
–  Other receivables 119,053 - 

 Total current assets 119,053 - 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   
Other costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest:   
–  exploration development expenditure 247,988 - 
–  Tenements 30,655,000 - 

 30,902,988 - 
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Note 8: Non-current assets –Plant and equipment  

Furniture, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment Total 

  $ $ 
Consolidated    
Year ended 30 June 2011    
Opening net book amount    
Additions  23,833 23,833 
Disposals  - - 
Depreciation charge  (1,665) (1,665) 

Closing net book amount  22,168 22,168 

At 30 June 2011    
Cost  23,833 23,833 
Accumulated depreciation  (1,665) (1,665) 

Net book amount  22,168 22,168 

Year ended 30 June 2012    
Opening net book amount  22,168 22,168 
Additions  - - 
Disposals  - - 
Depreciation charge  (5,762) (5,762) 

Closing net book amount  16,406 16,406 

At 30 June 2012    
Cost  23,833 23,833 
Accumulated depreciation  (7,427) (7,427) 

Net book amount  16,406 16,406 
 

  2012 2011 
Note 9: Other Assets  $ $ 
    

Non-current    
Tenements acquired  31,806,000 650,000 
Expenditure capitalised  1,584,109 163,622 

Carrying amount at end of the year  33,390,109 813,622 
 
Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful exploration and 
commercial exploitation of the tenements. 
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Note 11: Joint Venture 

 Consolidated Group 
 2012 2011 

   
Total non-current assets 30,902,988 - 

Share of total assets of joint venture 31,022,041 - 

Other Current Liabilities   
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 1,369,041 - 

Non-current Liabilities   

Borrowings 27,500,000  

Total Liabilities 28,869,041 - 

Net interest in joint venture 2,153,000 - 

Expenses 448,211 - 

The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of 
interest. 
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Note 11: Joint Venture 

 Consolidated Group 
 2012 2011 

   
Total non-current assets 30,902,988 - 

Share of total assets of joint venture 31,022,041 - 

Other Current Liabilities   
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 1,369,041 - 

Non-current Liabilities   

Borrowings 27,500,000  

Total Liabilities 28,869,041 - 

Net interest in joint venture 2,153,000 - 

Expenses 448,211 - 

The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of 
interest. 
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Note 12: Trade and other payables 
 

 Note 2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Trade payables  592,841 100,021 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses  2,073,174 79,157 
  2,666,015 179,178 

 
Note 13: Short term provisions 

  

Short term 
employee 
benefits Total 

  $ $ 
Opening balances at 1 July 2011  1,449 1,449 
Additional provisions  50,889 50,889 
Amounts used  (5,083) (5,083) 
Unused amounts reversed  - - 

Balance at 30 June 2012  47,255 47,255 

    
Opening balances at 1 July 2010  - - 
Additional provisions  1,449 1,449 
Amounts used  - - 
Unused amounts reversed  - - 

Balance at 30 June 2011  1,449 1,449 
 
Note 14: Borrowings 
NON-CURRENT Note 2012 2011 
  $ $ 
Secured liabilities:    
Loans  13a,b 27,500,000 - 

    
    
Total non-current borrowings  27,500,000 - 

Total borrowings  27,500,000 - 

a. The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as 
security are: 

   

 Mortgage on interests in Balla Balla mining tenements   27,500,000 - 

   27,500,000 - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
 A wholly-owned subsidiary of The Todd Corporation Limited ("Todd Lender") has, under a Loan 

Facility Agreement, provided Forge Resources Swan Pty Ltd ("Forge Resources Swan") (a wholly-
owned Forge subsidiary) with $27.5 million of senior secured debt secured over Forge's interests in 
the Balla Balla project.  The loan was drawn down in full in May 2012.  The loan has an initial two 
year term (which ends in May 2014), which can be rolled 6 monthly at the option of Todd Lender up 
to a maximum 10 year term. During the first two years, interest accrues at 15% per annum 
compounded annually, and during each rollover period it will accrue and compound six monthly at 
5% per annum plus BBSW (bank bill swap rate) for the rollover period.  
 
Under a Joint Venture Option Agreement entered into between the wholly-owned subsidiary of The 
Todd Corporation Limited which has an interest in the Balla Balla JV ("Todd JV Party") and Forge 
Resources Swan, Todd JV Party has an option to acquire an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla 
JV from Forge Resources Swan for a fixed consideration of $36.4 million.  
  
The option will expire on the earliest of: the date of first drawdown of project finance for the Balla 
Balla project; the date on which the loan under the Loan Facility Agreement is due to be repaid; and 
the end of 10 years (the "Expiry Date"). 
 
The option is open up to the Expiry Date but exerciseable only during any of the following periods: 

(a) each period commencing on the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies the Todd JV Party 
of a project finance term sheet (for the financing of the Balla Balla project) and ending 6 
business days after the earlier of: 

i. giving that notification; and 
ii. the Expiry Date; and 

(b) the period commencing 4 months after the giving of any notification described in paragraph 
(a) above if Forge Resources Swan has signed a project finance term sheet and ending on the 
earlier of: 

i. the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies the Todd JV Party that project 
finance will not proceed; and 

ii. the Expiry Date. 
 
If the option is exercised, Forge Resources Swan will on the relevant completion date transfer to the 
Todd JV Party an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla JV.  No cash will be paid by the Todd JV 
Party to Forge Resources Swan if the option completes after May 2014 – rather, Todd JV Party will 
pay the $36.4 million consideration to the Todd Lender which will constitute full or partial 
(depending on when paid) repayment of the loan amount (inclusive of accrued interest) by $36.4 
million under the Loan Facility Agreement. 
 
Should Forge be successful in obtaining and drawing down on a Project Finance Facility, then Forge 
Resources Swan will be required to repay the loan from the Todd Lender from the proceeds of this 
project finance.  
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Note 15: Issued capital           

  2012 2011 

  $ $ 

80,577,667 (2011: 25,477,667) fully paid ordinary shares 13a and b 26,239,259 5,546,831 
 

 

2012 
No of 
shares 

2012 
$ 

(a) Fully paid ordinary shares   
Balance at beginning of reporting year 25,477,667 4,231,631 

Issue of shares during the year:   
- Shares issued to WildSide (WA) P/L and Westover Holdings P/L in 
consideration for acquisition of tenements 1,100,000 451,000 
- Shares issued during the year 30,000,000 15,000,000 
- Shares issued during the year replacing performance shares 24,000,000 7,920,000 
- options converted to shares during the year - - 
Transaction costs - (1,363,372) 

Balance at end of reporting year 80,577,667 26,239,259 
 
 

 

2011 
No of 
shares 

2011 
$ 

Fully paid ordinary shares   
Balance at beginning of reporting year 3,000,003 125,575 
Issue of shares during the year:   
- AAMC in consideration of acquisition of tenements 3,000,000 600,000 
- shares issued during the year 19,000,000 3,800,000 
- options converted to shares during the year 477,664 95,535 
Transaction costs - (389,479) 

Balance at end of reporting year 25,477,667 4,231,631 
 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of shares held. Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting of 
the Company, in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each ordinary share is entitled 
to one vote. 
 
Ordinary shares have no par value. 
 

 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
 A wholly-owned subsidiary of The Todd Corporation Limited ("Todd Lender") has, under a Loan 

Facility Agreement, provided Forge Resources Swan Pty Ltd ("Forge Resources Swan") (a wholly-
owned Forge subsidiary) with $27.5 million of senior secured debt secured over Forge's interests in 
the Balla Balla project.  The loan was drawn down in full in May 2012.  The loan has an initial two 
year term (which ends in May 2014), which can be rolled 6 monthly at the option of Todd Lender up 
to a maximum 10 year term. During the first two years, interest accrues at 15% per annum 
compounded annually, and during each rollover period it will accrue and compound six monthly at 
5% per annum plus BBSW (bank bill swap rate) for the rollover period.  
 
Under a Joint Venture Option Agreement entered into between the wholly-owned subsidiary of The 
Todd Corporation Limited which has an interest in the Balla Balla JV ("Todd JV Party") and Forge 
Resources Swan, Todd JV Party has an option to acquire an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla 
JV from Forge Resources Swan for a fixed consideration of $36.4 million.  
  
The option will expire on the earliest of: the date of first drawdown of project finance for the Balla 
Balla project; the date on which the loan under the Loan Facility Agreement is due to be repaid; and 
the end of 10 years (the "Expiry Date"). 
 
The option is open up to the Expiry Date but exerciseable only during any of the following periods: 

(a) each period commencing on the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies the Todd JV Party 
of a project finance term sheet (for the financing of the Balla Balla project) and ending 6 
business days after the earlier of: 

i. giving that notification; and 
ii. the Expiry Date; and 

(b) the period commencing 4 months after the giving of any notification described in paragraph 
(a) above if Forge Resources Swan has signed a project finance term sheet and ending on the 
earlier of: 

i. the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies the Todd JV Party that project 
finance will not proceed; and 

ii. the Expiry Date. 
 
If the option is exercised, Forge Resources Swan will on the relevant completion date transfer to the 
Todd JV Party an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla JV.  No cash will be paid by the Todd JV 
Party to Forge Resources Swan if the option completes after May 2014 – rather, Todd JV Party will 
pay the $36.4 million consideration to the Todd Lender which will constitute full or partial 
(depending on when paid) repayment of the loan amount (inclusive of accrued interest) by $36.4 
million under the Loan Facility Agreement. 
 
Should Forge be successful in obtaining and drawing down on a Project Finance Facility, then Forge 
Resources Swan will be required to repay the loan from the Todd Lender from the proceeds of this 
project finance.  
 

 

59forge reSourceS  AnnuAl RepoRt 2012

noteS to the financial StatementS
for the year ended 30 June 2012



 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2012 
No of 
shares 

2012 
$ 

(b) Performance shares   
Balance at beginning of reporting year 24,000,000 1,315,200 
Cancellation of share during the year:   
- Shares cancelled 31 May 2012 (24,000,000) (1,315,200) 

Balance at end of reporting year - - 

   

 

2011 
No of 
shares 

2011 
$ 

Performance shares   
Balance at beginning of reporting year - - 
Issue of shares during the year:   
- Share issue 17 September 2010 24,000,000 1,315,200 

Balance at end of reporting year 24,000,000 1,315,200 
 
The Performance Shares will convert into Shares in the capital of the Company upon either one of the 
Company’s existing projects or, a project acquired after the Admission Date was identified as having a JORC 
compliant resource which is able to support a capital raising of at least $15,000,000 at a price not less than 
$0.35 per Share by the Company and the Company completing such a capital raising. All Performance 
Shares will convert into 24,000,000 Shares in the capital of the Company. The Performance Shares will 
expire in 18 months from the date of the Initial Public Offering of the Company. In the event that the 
Milestone is not achieved by the Expiry Date, then all Performance Shares held by a Holder will 
automatically be forfeited. The performance shares expired and were forfeited on 21 March 2012. 
 

(c) Options over unissued shares 
2012 

Number 

  
Options   
Balance at beginning of reporting year 20,455,905 
Issued during the year 14,300,000 
Lapsed during the year (2,300,000) 
Converted during the year - 

Balance at end of reporting year 32,455,905 
  

 
4,500,000 options with the exercise price of $0.54 and expiry date of 1 December 2015 were issued on 1 
December 2011 to Directors and employees of the Company as approved by shareholders at the Annual 
General meeting held 24 November 2011. 
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9,800,000 options were issued on 31 May 2012 as approved by shareholders at the General Meeting held 
25 May 2012 as below: 
 
6,500,000 options were issued to Tio (NZ) Limited (a subsidiary of Todd) on 31 May 2012 with an exercise 
price of $0.50 and expiry date two years from the date of issue. These options were approved at a general 
meeting of shareholders on 25 May 2012 and have been independently valued at $851,500. 
 
1,000,000 options were issued to Riverstone Advisory Limited on 31 May 2012 with an exercise price of 
$0.50 and expiry date three years from the date of issue. These options were approved at a general 
meeting of shareholders on 25 May 2012 and have been independently valued at $168,000. 
 
300,000 options were issued on 31 May 2012 with an exercise price of $0.67 and expiry date of 15 June 
2015. 
 
2,000,000 options were issued on 31 May 2012 (subject to shareholder approval) with an exercise price of 
$0.54 and expiry date of 1 December 2015. 
 
6,333,569 options were issued on 21 September 2010 to shareholders at the initial public offer and 600,000 
Options were issued on 27 June 2011to Geoff Atkins pursuant to the employee share plan. 
 
13,000,000 options were issued on 1st November 2009 to the founding investor/shareholder group. Of this 
amount 1,100,000 were issued to Directors of the Company in their capacity as founding 
investor/shareholders. 
 
1,000,000 options were issued in two tranches (633,333 on 15th March 2010 and 333,334 on 11th May 
2010) as part of the seed capital raising undertaken by the Company. The Company issued 1,000,000 fully 
paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.10, plus each applicant received one free option for every three 
seed shares subscribed for. Of these 1,000,000 options, 166,668 were issued to two Directors as part of 
their respective seed capital applications.  
 
(d)  Capital management 
 
When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the consolidated group continues as a going 
concern as well as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to 
the consolidated group.  
 
Management adjusts the capital structure to the extent possible to take advantage of favourable costs of 
capital or high returns on assets. As the market is constantly changing, management may change the 
amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell 
assets to reduce debt.  
 
The consolidated group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements, nor does it focus on 
obtaining debt as a key capital management tool. 

 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 

 

2012 
No of 
shares 

2012 
$ 

(b) Performance shares   
Balance at beginning of reporting year 24,000,000 1,315,200 
Cancellation of share during the year:   
- Shares cancelled 31 May 2012 (24,000,000) (1,315,200) 

Balance at end of reporting year - - 

   

 

2011 
No of 
shares 

2011 
$ 

Performance shares   
Balance at beginning of reporting year - - 
Issue of shares during the year:   
- Share issue 17 September 2010 24,000,000 1,315,200 

Balance at end of reporting year 24,000,000 1,315,200 
 
The Performance Shares will convert into Shares in the capital of the Company upon either one of the 
Company’s existing projects or, a project acquired after the Admission Date was identified as having a JORC 
compliant resource which is able to support a capital raising of at least $15,000,000 at a price not less than 
$0.35 per Share by the Company and the Company completing such a capital raising. All Performance 
Shares will convert into 24,000,000 Shares in the capital of the Company. The Performance Shares will 
expire in 18 months from the date of the Initial Public Offering of the Company. In the event that the 
Milestone is not achieved by the Expiry Date, then all Performance Shares held by a Holder will 
automatically be forfeited. The performance shares expired and were forfeited on 21 March 2012. 
 

(c) Options over unissued shares 
2012 

Number 

  
Options   
Balance at beginning of reporting year 20,455,905 
Issued during the year 14,300,000 
Lapsed during the year (2,300,000) 
Converted during the year - 

Balance at end of reporting year 32,455,905 
  

 
4,500,000 options with the exercise price of $0.54 and expiry date of 1 December 2015 were issued on 1 
December 2011 to Directors and employees of the Company as approved by shareholders at the Annual 
General meeting held 24 November 2011. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Note 16: Interests of key management personnel (KMP) 
 
Names and positions held of Company key management personnel in office at any time during the year 
were: 
 
N Curtis (appointed 1 July 2010) Non-executive Chairman 
M James (appointed 15 August 2011) Managing Director   
H Ou Wang (appointed 1 July 2010)  Non-executive Director 
M Wolley (appointed 7 June 2012) Non-executive Director  
E Correia (appointed 8 October 2009) Non-executive Director 
J Malone (appointed 1 July 2010) (Resigned 31 October 2011)  Non-executive Director 
Shane Hartwig Company Secretary 
Geoff Atkins Senior Project Manager 
 
Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the remuneration paid 
or payable to each member of the Company’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows: 
  2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Short-term employee benefits  651,261 99,653 
Post-employment benefits  38,152 1,514 
Share-based payments  8,394,757 1,887 

  9,084,170 103,054 
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(a) KMP share holdings 
 
The number of ordinary shares in Forge Resources Ltd held directly and indirectly by each key management 
personnel of the Company during the year is as follows: 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of year 

or date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Issued on 
exercise of 

options 
Other 

changes 

Balance at end of 
year or date of 
resignation or 

cessation 
2012      
N Curtis 4,000,000 - - 24,250,000 28,250,000 
M James *** 350,000 - - 60,000 410,000 
H Ou Wang 350,000 - - - 350,000 
M Wolley ** - - - - - 
E Correia 325,001 - - - 325,001 
G Atkins 100,000 - - - 100,000 
S Hartwig  382,501 - - - 382,501 
J Malone * 375,000 - - - 375,000 

Total 5,882,502 - - 24,310,000 30,192,502 
*  Resigned 31 October 2011 
**  Appointed 7 June 2012 
***  Appointed 15 August 2011 
 

 

Balance at 
beginning of year 

or date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Issued on 
exercise of 

options 
Other 

changes 

Balance at end of 
year or date of 
resignation or 

cessation 
2011      
N Curtis - - - 4,000,000 4,000,000 
M James *** - - - 350,000 350,000 
H Ou Wang - - - 350,000 350,000 
E Correia 325,001 - - - 325,001 
J Malone ** - - - 375,000 375,000 
G Atkins - - - 100,000 100,000 
S Hartwig * 382,501 - - - 382,501 
B Siddall * 1 - - - 1 

Total 707,503 - - 5,175,000 5,882,503 
* Resigned effective 1 July 2010  
** Resigned 31 October 2011 
***  Appointed 15 August 2011 

 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Note 16: Interests of key management personnel (KMP) 
 
Names and positions held of Company key management personnel in office at any time during the year 
were: 
 
N Curtis (appointed 1 July 2010) Non-executive Chairman 
M James (appointed 15 August 2011) Managing Director   
H Ou Wang (appointed 1 July 2010)  Non-executive Director 
M Wolley (appointed 7 June 2012) Non-executive Director  
E Correia (appointed 8 October 2009) Non-executive Director 
J Malone (appointed 1 July 2010) (Resigned 31 October 2011)  Non-executive Director 
Shane Hartwig Company Secretary 
Geoff Atkins Senior Project Manager 
 
Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for details of the remuneration paid 
or payable to each member of the Company’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
 
The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows: 
  2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Short-term employee benefits  651,261 99,653 
Post-employment benefits  38,152 1,514 
Share-based payments  8,394,757 1,887 

  9,084,170 103,054 
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(b)  KMP Option holdings 
 

 Balance at 
beginning of year 

or date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Issued on 
exercise of 

options 
Other 

changes 

Balance at end of 
year or date of 
resignation or 

cessation 
2012      
N Curtis 1,333,334 - - - 1,333,334 
M James *** 116,667 - - 3,500,0001 3,616,667 
H Ou Wang 116,667 - - 1,300,0002 1,416,667 
M Wolley ** - - - - - 
E Correia 608,334 - - 250,000 858,334 
G Atkins 633,334 - - 100,0003 733,334 
S Hartwig  627,501 - - 250,000 877,501 
J Malone * 125,001 - -  125,001 

Total 3,560,838 - - 5,400,000 8,960,838 
* Resigned effective 1 July 2010  
**    Appointed 7 June 2012 
***  Appointed 15 August 2011 
 

 Balance at 
beginning of year 

or date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Issued on 
exercise of 

options 
Other 

changes 

Balance at end of 
year or date of 
resignation or 

cessation 
2011      
N Curtis - - - 1,333,334 1,333,334 
M James *** - - - 116,667 116,667 
H Ou Wang - - - 116,667 116,667 
E Correia 608,334 - - - 608,334 
J Malone ** - - - 125,001 125,001 
G Atkins - 600,000 - 33,334 633,334 
S Hartwig * 627,501 - - - 627,501 
B Siddall * 100,000 - - - 100,000 

Total 1,335,835 600,000 - 1,725,003 3,660,838 
* Resigned effective 1 July 2010  
**   Resigned effective 31 October 2011 
***  Appointed 15 August 2011 

                                                      
1 2,000,000 agreed to be issued, but still subject to shareholder approval. Share base payment expense will be included in Financial 
Year ending 2013 assuming shareholder approval obtained. 
2 800,000 agreed to be issued, but still subject to shareholder approval. Share base payment expense will be included in Financial 
Year ending 2013 assuming shareholder approval obtained. 
3 Issued post 30 June 2012, share base payment expense will be included in Financial Year ending 2013. 
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(b)  KMP Option holdings 
 

 Balance at 
beginning of year 

or date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Issued on 
exercise of 

options 
Other 

changes 

Balance at end of 
year or date of 
resignation or 

cessation 
2012      
N Curtis 1,333,334 - - - 1,333,334 
M James *** 116,667 - - 3,500,0001 3,616,667 
H Ou Wang 116,667 - - 1,300,0002 1,416,667 
M Wolley ** - - - - - 
E Correia 608,334 - - 250,000 858,334 
G Atkins 633,334 - - 100,0003 733,334 
S Hartwig  627,501 - - 250,000 877,501 
J Malone * 125,001 - -  125,001 

Total 3,560,838 - - 5,400,000 8,960,838 
* Resigned effective 1 July 2010  
**    Appointed 7 June 2012 
***  Appointed 15 August 2011 
 

 Balance at 
beginning of year 

or date of 
appointment 

Granted as 
compensation 

Issued on 
exercise of 

options 
Other 

changes 

Balance at end of 
year or date of 
resignation or 

cessation 
2011      
N Curtis - - - 1,333,334 1,333,334 
M James *** - - - 116,667 116,667 
H Ou Wang - - - 116,667 116,667 
E Correia 608,334 - - - 608,334 
J Malone ** - - - 125,001 125,001 
G Atkins - 600,000 - 33,334 633,334 
S Hartwig * 627,501 - - - 627,501 
B Siddall * 100,000 - - - 100,000 

Total 1,335,835 600,000 - 1,725,003 3,660,838 
* Resigned effective 1 July 2010  
**   Resigned effective 31 October 2011 
***  Appointed 15 August 2011 

                                                      
1 2,000,000 agreed to be issued, but still subject to shareholder approval. Share base payment expense will be included in Financial 
Year ending 2013 assuming shareholder approval obtained. 
2 800,000 agreed to be issued, but still subject to shareholder approval. Share base payment expense will be included in Financial 
Year ending 2013 assuming shareholder approval obtained. 
3 Issued post 30 June 2012, share base payment expense will be included in Financial Year ending 2013. 
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(c)  KMP Performance Shares holdings 
 
The performance shares expired and were forfeited on 21 March 2012. Ordinary shares totalling 
24,000,000 were issued to Nicholas Curtis on 31 May 2012 with the value of $7,920,000.  
 
Note 17: Employee benefits 
 
Superannuation 
 
The consolidated group makes contributions based on each employee’s salary to superannuation plans that 
provide employees with benefits on retirement in accordance with the requirements of superannuation 
legislations. 
 
Employee incentive plan 
 
The Company has established the Forge Resources Limited Employee Share Trust (“EST”) for the purpose of 
retaining and incentivising its key personnel. A summary of the main terms of the EST is as follows: 
 

i. The trustee of the Forge Resources Limited Employee Share Trust is Trinity Management Pty Limited 
(“Trustee”). 

ii. The Board will administer the EST in accordance with the terms of the governing Deed (“Terms”) (and 
any other terms prescribed by the Board for the operation of the EST which are consistent with the 
Terms). 

iii. The Board has discretion to determine which employees, Directors, executives or contractors are 
invited to apply to the Trustee for Share Units (“Eligible Employee”). The Company has absolute 
discretion to determine the number of Share Units to be issued to an Eligible Employee. 

iv. The Board may from time to time suspend operation of, or cancel, the EST. 

v. Subject to the ASX Listing Rules and to specified restrictions in the Terms, the Board may at any time 
by written instrument or by resolution, amend all or any of the provisions of the Terms, and make 
amendments to the Terms, or structure of an offer, as they apply in respect of foreign jurisdictions 
where such amendments would be appropriate for tax purposes, as determined by the Board. 

vi. When the performance shares are converted to Shares, they will rank pari passu in all respects with 
the other Shares of the Company from the date of issue. 

vii.  The Company must not make an offer under the EST where the grant of the performance shares, 
Options or Shares contemplated by the offer would result in the Company exceeding the limit that 
applies under ASIC Class Order 03/184. Class Order 03/184 prescribes that the aggregate of all offers 
of securities in the same class in the previous 5 years under the EST must not exceed 5% of the issued 
capital of the Company at the time of the offer. There are certain types of issues, which are exempt 
from this calculation, including offers made pursuant to a disclosure document. 

viii. At the time participating employees wish to redeem or encash their holding, bonus share units are 
issued by the Trustee to enable full share value to be received including any growth over the holding 
period. The Company’s contribution is limited to the issue of Shares in the Company. 
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ix. The share units provide to unit holders substantially the same rights in respect of the performance 

shares which are allocated to the share units as if the unit holders were the legal owners of the 
performance shares, excluding the rights to: 

(a) direct the Trustee how the voting rights attached to the performance shares shall be exercised; 
and 

(b) receive the income derived from the performance shares including dividends declared in 
respect of the shares, until such time that the performance shares are converted to Shares. 

x. In general, the share units are not transferable. 

xi. Any entitlement to share units, which have not vested, will be forfeited if a participant resigns from 
employment with the Company or ceases employment for any other reason. 

xii. Subject to the ASX Listing Rules, in the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or other change 
of control as determined by the Board in respect of the Company, share units may, at the discretion 
of the Board, vest on a pro rata basis in accordance with an assessment of performance. 

 
Fair value of options granted  
 
The assessed fair value of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2012 was $0.418 per option. The 
fair value at grant date is determined using the Black Scholes option model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at granted date and expected 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate of the term of 
the option.  
 
The models input for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2011 include the expected price 
volatility based on the historic volatility of companies in the mining sector.  
 
The value of 24,000,000 shares issued to Nicholas Curtis was based on the share price of the Company on 
the date of issue.  
 
Note 18: Related party transactions 
 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.  
 
During the period a sum of $1,958,486 (2011: $340,090) and 1,000,000 options(independently valued at 
$168,000) was paid to Riverstone Advisory (Riverstone), a firm involved in the provision of merger and 
acquisition advisory services to the natural resource sector. Riverstone provided project management and 
other management support services as well as advisory services relating to the potential acquisitions the 
Company is currently reviewing. Nicholas Curtis is a Director and shareholder of Riverstone.  
 
Additionally payments were made to Peloton Capital Pty Ltd of $325,000 (2011: Nil) and Cardrona Energy 
Pty Ltd of $25,000 (2011: Nil) for corporate advisory and Company management services prior to full time 
executive management being appointed to the Company. Emmanuel Correia is a Director of Peloton Capital 
Pty Ltd and Cardrona Energy Pty Ltd. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Key management personnel 
 
Details of the compensation of key management personnel are included in Remuneration Report section of 
the Directors Report. 
 
Note 19:  Notes to statement of cash flows 

  2012 2011 
  $ $ 
(a) Reconciliation of cash    
Cash at bank and on hand  9,720,297 2,923,991 

 
(b) Reconciliation of loss from ordinary activities after income 

tax to net cash used in operating activities  
 

 
    

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax  (13,717,392) (1,780,818) 
Depreciation and amortisation  5,762 1,665 
Non-cash expense – consultancy expenses  168,000 - 
Non-cash expense – share based payments  1,326,251 1,887 
Non-cash expense – performance shares  7,920,000 1,315,200 
Changes in assets and liabilities relating to operations:    
- Increase (Decrease) in creditors and accruals  2,368,398 65,208 
- Increase (Decrease) in provisions  45,806 1,449 
- Decrease (Increase) in receivables  (450,099) 7,892 
- Decrease (Increase) in other non-current assets  - (125,508) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (2,333,274) (513,025) 
 
(c) Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities 
 
Shares issued: 
 
On 17 September 2010 3,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at $0.20 cents as consideration for the 
acquisition of mining tenements from Australian-American Mining Corporation N.L. 
 
On 14 October 2011 1,100,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at $0.41 cents as consideration for the 
acquisition of mining tenements for the West Eucla project to Wild Side (WA) P/L & Westover Holdings 
P/L(Vendors) as part of option agreement. 
 
On 31 May 2012 24,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at $0.33 to Nicholas Curtis for no consideration.  
 
On 31 May 2012 1,000,000 options were issued with an exercise price of $0.50 and expiry date three years 
from the date of issue. These options have been independently valued at $168,000.  
 
 
 

 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
ix. The share units provide to unit holders substantially the same rights in respect of the performance 

shares which are allocated to the share units as if the unit holders were the legal owners of the 
performance shares, excluding the rights to: 

(a) direct the Trustee how the voting rights attached to the performance shares shall be exercised; 
and 

(b) receive the income derived from the performance shares including dividends declared in 
respect of the shares, until such time that the performance shares are converted to Shares. 

x. In general, the share units are not transferable. 

xi. Any entitlement to share units, which have not vested, will be forfeited if a participant resigns from 
employment with the Company or ceases employment for any other reason. 

xii. Subject to the ASX Listing Rules, in the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or other change 
of control as determined by the Board in respect of the Company, share units may, at the discretion 
of the Board, vest on a pro rata basis in accordance with an assessment of performance. 

 
Fair value of options granted  
 
The assessed fair value of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2012 was $0.418 per option. The 
fair value at grant date is determined using the Black Scholes option model that takes into account the 
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at granted date and expected 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate of the term of 
the option.  
 
The models input for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2011 include the expected price 
volatility based on the historic volatility of companies in the mining sector.  
 
The value of 24,000,000 shares issued to Nicholas Curtis was based on the share price of the Company on 
the date of issue.  
 
Note 18: Related party transactions 
 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.  
 
During the period a sum of $1,958,486 (2011: $340,090) and 1,000,000 options(independently valued at 
$168,000) was paid to Riverstone Advisory (Riverstone), a firm involved in the provision of merger and 
acquisition advisory services to the natural resource sector. Riverstone provided project management and 
other management support services as well as advisory services relating to the potential acquisitions the 
Company is currently reviewing. Nicholas Curtis is a Director and shareholder of Riverstone.  
 
Additionally payments were made to Peloton Capital Pty Ltd of $325,000 (2011: Nil) and Cardrona Energy 
Pty Ltd of $25,000 (2011: Nil) for corporate advisory and Company management services prior to full time 
executive management being appointed to the Company. Emmanuel Correia is a Director of Peloton Capital 
Pty Ltd and Cardrona Energy Pty Ltd. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Note 20: Segment information 
 
Identification of reportable segments 
 
The consolidated group has identified its reportable segments based on the location of its exploration 
assets.  
 
The primary business segment and the primary geographic segment within which the Company operates 
are minerals and energy exploration in Australia respectively.  
 
Note 21: Financial risk management 
 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the consolidated 
group’s risk management framework. The consolidated group’s risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyse the risks faced by the consolidated group, to set appropriate risk limited and controls, 
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and the consolidated group’s activities. 
 
The consolidated group’s activities expose it to a limited number of financial risks as described below. The 
consolidated group’s overall risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the consolidated group. To date, the consolidated group has not had the need to 
utilise derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts or interest rate swaps to manage 
any risk exposure identified. The consolidated group holds the following financial instruments. 
 

 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 9,720,297 2,923,991 

Trade and other receivables 459,120 9,021 

Total 10,179,417 2,933,012 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 2,666,015 179,178 

Borrowings 27,500,000 - 

Total 30,166,015 179,178 
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Specific financial risk exposures and management 
 
The main risks the consolidated group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The consolidated group’s main interest exposure arises from cash at bank, bank term deposits and 
mortgage loans as at the reporting date, the consolidated group had the following cash profile. 
 

 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

Cash at bank and in hand 9,720,297 2,923,991 

Term deposit 459,120 109,722 

Loans (27,500,000) - 

Total (17,320,583) 3,033,713 
 
The consolidated group’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. The cash in the 
investment account earns a floating interest rate between 3.50% and 4.25%. The loans carry an interest 
rate of 15%.  
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using cash flow 
forecasting.  
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits and banks as well credit exposure including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 
For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’ are 
accepted. In respect of the parent entity, credit risk relates to loans with subsidiary and associated 
companies. In order to achieve stated corporate objectives, the parent entity provides financial support to 
subsidiary and associated companies, but only to the level, which the Board considers necessary to achieve 
these objectives and meets agreed conditions. Any loans to subsidiary and associated companies 
considered to be unrecoverable have been provided for. 
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Identification of reportable segments 
 
The consolidated group has identified its reportable segments based on the location of its exploration 
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The consolidated group’s activities expose it to a limited number of financial risks as described below. The 
consolidated group’s overall risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the consolidated group. To date, the consolidated group has not had the need to 
utilise derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts or interest rate swaps to manage 
any risk exposure identified. The consolidated group holds the following financial instruments. 
 

 2012 2011 

 $ $ 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 9,720,297 2,923,991 

Trade and other receivables 459,120 9,021 

Total 10,179,417 2,933,012 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 2,666,015 179,178 

Borrowings 27,500,000 - 

Total 30,166,015 179,178 
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for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The consolidated group maintains sufficient liquidity by holding cash in readily accessible accounts. The 
consolidated group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and 
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The consolidated group’s financial assets 
$10,179,417 (2011: $2,933,012) and financial liabilities $30,166,015 (2011: $179,178) have a maturity 
within 12 months of 30 June 2012. 
 
Fair value 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements represents their 
respective net fair values unless otherwise noted, determined in accordance with the accounting policies 
disclosed in the Statement of Accounting Policies. 
 
Sensitivity analysis 
 
The following table illustrates sensitivity to the consolidated group’s exposure to changes in interest rates. 
The table indicates the impact on how profit and equity values reported at balance date would have been 
affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. This 
sensitivity assumes that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables. 
 

 Profit Equity 
 $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2012   

+/- 1% in interest rates +/- 3,441 +/- 3,441 
 

Year ended 30 June 2011   

+/-1% in interest rates +/- 1,441 +/- 1,441 
 
Note 22: Earnings per share 

 2012 2011 
 $’000 $’000 
Operating loss after income tax used in the calculation of basic and 
diluted loss per share  13,717,392 1,780,818 

   
 Number Number 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 77,650,818 20,507,995 
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Note 23: Controlled Entities 
 
Controlled Entities Consolidated 
 

Subsidiaries of Forge Resources Limited Country of incorporation Percentage Owned (%) 

  2012 2011 

  % % 

Forge Resources Swan Pty Limited* Australia 100 100 

Forge Resources Crown Pty Limited* Australia 100 100 

Forge Balla Balla Investments Pty Ltd* Australia 100 - 
* Acquired on incorporation for a consideration of $2. There has been no trading to date. 
 
Note 24: Events occurring after the reporting period 
 
On 11 September 2012, the Company has issued 1,025,000 options (800,000 options still subject to 
shareholder approval) to purchase fully paid ordinary shares to the Company’s Employee Share Trust.  
 
Other than described above there has not arisen in the interval since 30 June 2012 and up to the date of 
this report, any matter that, in the opinion of the Directors, has significantly affected or may significantly 
affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company 
in future financial years. 
 
The financial report was authorised for issue on 28 September 2012 by the Board of Directors. 
 
Note 25: Reserves  
 
The share-based payments reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share 
options. 
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affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. This 
sensitivity assumes that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables. 
 

 Profit Equity 
 $ $ 
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Note 26: Capital and Leasing Commitments  
 Note  
  2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Operating Lease Commitments     
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in 
the financial statements  

   

Payable – minimum lease payments:    
–  Within one year   172,739 206,160 

–  Later than one year but not later than five years   - 172,739 
–  Later than five years   - - 

   172,739 378,899 
The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a 24-month term, with 
rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rental provisions within 
the lease agreement require the minimum lease payments shall be 
increased 4.5% per annum. The lease allows for subletting of all lease 
areas. 
 

   

Expenditure Commitments     
Minimum expenditure commitments for mining tenements (including JV 
commitments): 

   

–  Within one year   704,870 352,000 
–  Later than one year but not later than five years   1,796,685 70,000 
–  Later than five years   - - 

   2,501,555 422,000 
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Note 26: Capital and Leasing Commitments  
 Note  
  2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 
Operating Lease Commitments     
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised in 
the financial statements  

   

Payable – minimum lease payments:    
–  Within one year   172,739 206,160 

–  Later than one year but not later than five years   - 172,739 
–  Later than five years   - - 

   172,739 378,899 
The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a 24-month term, with 
rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rental provisions within 
the lease agreement require the minimum lease payments shall be 
increased 4.5% per annum. The lease allows for subletting of all lease 
areas. 
 

   

Expenditure Commitments     
Minimum expenditure commitments for mining tenements (including JV 
commitments): 

   

–  Within one year   704,870 352,000 
–  Later than one year but not later than five years   1,796,685 70,000 
–  Later than five years   - - 

   2,501,555 422,000 
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Note 27: Parent Information 
 2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 

The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the 
parent and has been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards. 

  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
ASSETS   
Current assets 10,186,459 2,933,012 
Non-current assets 5,104,738 961,885 
TOTAL ASSETS 15,291,197 3,894,897 

   
LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities 1,344,229 180,627 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,344,229 180,627 

   
EQUITY   
Issued capital 26,239,259 5,546,831 
Retained earnings (13,788,429) (1,834,448) 
Option reserve 1,496,138 1,887 
TOTAL EQUITY 13,946,968 3,714,270 

 
 
 

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   

Total loss (13,269,181) (1,780,818) 

Total comprehensive income (13,269,181) (1,780,818) 

 
Guarantees 
Forge Resources Ltd has not entered into any guarantees, in the current or previous financial year, in 
relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 
 

Contractual commitments 
At 30 June 2012, Forge Resources Ltd had not entered into any contractual commitments for the 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2011: nil). 
 
Note 28: Company Details 
 

REGISTERED OFFICE 
Level 24 
56 Pitt Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS 
Level 24 
56 Pitt Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
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FORGE RESOURCES LTD- ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 
 
 
 

DIRECTORS DECLARATION 
 
 
 
In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Forge Resources Ltd, the Directors of the Company 
declare that: 
 
1.  the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 25 to 66, are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001 and: 
 

(a)  comply with Australian Accounting Standards which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to 
the financial statements, constitutes compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS); and 

 
(b)  give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of the performance for 

the year ended on that date of the consolidated group; 
 

2.  the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have each declared that: 
 

(a)  the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in 
accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 

 
(b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Australian 

Accounting Standards; and 
 
(c)  the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply give a true and fair view. 
 

3.  in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
Dated this 28 September 2012 
 
 

 
 
Matthew James 
Managing Director 
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DIRECTORS DECLARATION 
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Dated this 28 September 2012 
 
 

 
 
Matthew James 
Managing Director 
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FORGE RESOURCES LTD - ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 
 
 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 
 
Additional Australian Securities Exchange information as at 31 August 2012. 
 
Number of holders of equity securities 
 
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
80,577,667 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 558 individual shareholders (3,925,000 subject to ASX 
escrow).  
 
All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 
 
Options 
32,455,905 Options ($0.20 Ex Price, 31st July 2014 Expiry) held by 236 individual shareholders (13,308,332 
subject to ASX escrow). 
 
600,000 Unlisted options ($0.67 exercise price, 15 June 2015 expiry) held by one employee. 
 
6,500,000 options were issued on 31st May 2012 with an exercise price of $0.50 and expiry date two years 
from the date of issue.  
 
1,000,000 options were issued on 31 May 2012 with an exercise price of $0.50 and expiry date three years 
from the date of issue. 
 
300,000 options were issued on 31st May 2012 with an exercise price of $0.67 and expiry date of 15 June 
2015. 
 
2,000,000 options were issued on 31 May 2012 with an exercise price of $0.54 and expiry date of 1 
December 2015. 
 
6,333,569 options were issued on 21 September 2010 to shareholders at the initial public offer and 
600,000 Options were issued on 27 June 2011to Geoff Atkins pursuant to the employee share plan. 
 
Performance Shares 
24,000,000 Performance Shares held by one holder (24,000,000 subject to ASX escrow). 
 

The Performance Shares expired on 21 March 2012 and were replaced by 24,000,000 ordinary shares, 
with a total value of $7,920,000, issued to Nicholas Curtis as approved by a general meeting of 
shareholders held on 25 May 2012. 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
 
 

 
 

Twenty largest holders of quoted ordinary shares Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
 Number % 
TRINITY MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <FORGE RESOURCES EMPLOYEE SHARE> 24,000,000 29.78 
TIO (NZ) LIMITED 16,000,000 19.86 
AUSTRALIA CONGLIN INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT GROUP PTY LTD 5,000,000 6.21 
WILKES HOLDINGS PTY LTD 4,250,000 5.27 
AUSTRALIAN-AMERICAN MINING CORPORATION LIMITED 3,000,000 3.72 
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 2,866,870 3.56 
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 1,246,567 1.55 
KELLY BROOKVALE PTY LIMITED <BURST SUPER FUND A/C> 1,165,900 1.45 
MR ANDREW CLIVE BEDE ROSS + MRS MARY-LOUISE ROSS <ARML SUPER 
FUND A/C> 1,000,000 1.24 

BRADFIELD & PRICHARD REAL ESTATE CONSULTANTS PTY LTD <BENSON 
& GUTH RETIRE FND A/C> 814,171 1.01 

MRS YAO XU <XIAO LIU A/C> 671,634 0.83 
JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> 661,398 0.82 
WESTOVER HOLDINGS PTY LTD 550,000 0.68 
QUOTIDIAN NO 2 PTY LIMITED 544,462 0.68 
BRADFIELD & PRICHARD REAL ESTATE CONSULTANTS P/L 
<BENSON&GUTH RETMNT FUND A/C> 500,000 0.62 

WILD SIDE (WA) PTY LTD 495,000 0.61 
MR TIMOTHY PETER HAMILTON WEARNE 462,905 0.57 
MR REGINALD STEWART INGLIS <R S INGLIS SUPER FUND A/C> 403,000 0.50 

 
Distribution of holders of equity securities 
 
 
Category (Size of Holdings) Ordinary Shares 

holders 
Option holders 

1 - 1,000 110 3 
1,001 - 5,000 109 97 
5,001 - 10,000 112 28 
10,001 - 100,000 166 83 
100,001 and over 61 25 
 558 236 
Holding less than a marketable parcel 135 101 
 

Substantial Shareholders 
The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Forge Resources Ltd register as at 31 August 2012 
were: 
 

Holders 
Fully paid ordinary shares 

Number Percentage 
TRINITY MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <FORGE RESOURCES EMPLOYEE 
SHARE> 

24,000,000 29.78% 

TIO (NZ) LIMITED 16,000,000 19.86% 
 40,000,000 49.64% 
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AUSTRALIAN-AMERICAN MINING CORPORATION LIMITED 3,000,000 3.72 
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 2,866,870 3.56 
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 1,246,567 1.55 
KELLY BROOKVALE PTY LIMITED <BURST SUPER FUND A/C> 1,165,900 1.45 
MR ANDREW CLIVE BEDE ROSS + MRS MARY-LOUISE ROSS <ARML SUPER 
FUND A/C> 1,000,000 1.24 

BRADFIELD & PRICHARD REAL ESTATE CONSULTANTS PTY LTD <BENSON 
& GUTH RETIRE FND A/C> 814,171 1.01 

MRS YAO XU <XIAO LIU A/C> 671,634 0.83 
JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> 661,398 0.82 
WESTOVER HOLDINGS PTY LTD 550,000 0.68 
QUOTIDIAN NO 2 PTY LIMITED 544,462 0.68 
BRADFIELD & PRICHARD REAL ESTATE CONSULTANTS P/L 
<BENSON&GUTH RETMNT FUND A/C> 500,000 0.62 

WILD SIDE (WA) PTY LTD 495,000 0.61 
MR TIMOTHY PETER HAMILTON WEARNE 462,905 0.57 
MR REGINALD STEWART INGLIS <R S INGLIS SUPER FUND A/C> 403,000 0.50 

 
Distribution of holders of equity securities 
 
 
Category (Size of Holdings) Ordinary Shares 

holders 
Option holders 

1 - 1,000 110 3 
1,001 - 5,000 109 97 
5,001 - 10,000 112 28 
10,001 - 100,000 166 83 
100,001 and over 61 25 
 558 236 
Holding less than a marketable parcel 135 101 
 

Substantial Shareholders 
The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Forge Resources Ltd register as at 31 August 2012 
were: 
 

Holders 
Fully paid ordinary shares 

Number Percentage 
TRINITY MANAGEMENT PTY LTD <FORGE RESOURCES EMPLOYEE 
SHARE> 

24,000,000 29.78% 

TIO (NZ) LIMITED 16,000,000 19.86% 
 40,000,000 49.64% 
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DATO FRANKY G E CHUA 400,000 0.50 
P G HOWARTH PTY LTD 400,000 0.50 
Total 64,431,907 79.96 
Remainder 16,145.760 20.04 
 
Grand Total 
 

80,577,667 100.00 

 Twenty largest holders of quoted options 
 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
 Number % 
ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS A/C> 2,655,000 13.37 
CANGU PTY LTD <CANGU FAMILY A/C> 2,399,999 12.09 
MR KELVIN ROBERT SMITH <GALLERY INVESTMENT A/C> 1,350,000 6.80 
WILKES HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,333,334 6.72 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 1,124,999 5.67 
MRS MARGARET ANNE DOWNES 700,000 3.53 
MADEIRA NOMINEES PTY LTD 683,334 3.44 
MR DANIEL CORREIA <THE DANS A/C> 670,000 3.37 
MR EMMANUEL CORREIA 566,667 2.85 
MR SHANE ANTHONY HARTWIG 500,000 2.52 
LITTLE BREAKAWAY PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
MAC EQUITY PARTNERS PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
P G HOWARTH PTY LTD 426,618 2.15 
JALONEX INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
TRANSOCEAN SECURITIES PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
JJ HOLDINGS (VIC) PTY LTD <SUMMERLEA S/FUND A/C> 400,000 2.01 
MOOSEHEAD PTY LIMITED 300,000 1.51 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 283,335 1.43 
NUMBER 7 INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C> 250,000 1.26 
JOHN DENOON AND ASSOCIATES PTY LTD 212,976 1.07 
Total 15,706,262 79.10 
Remainder 4,149,643 20.90 
Grand Total 19,855,905 100.00 
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Total 64,431,907 79.96 
Remainder 16,145.760 20.04 
 
Grand Total 
 

80,577,667 100.00 

 Twenty largest holders of quoted options 
 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
 Number % 
ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS A/C> 2,655,000 13.37 
CANGU PTY LTD <CANGU FAMILY A/C> 2,399,999 12.09 
MR KELVIN ROBERT SMITH <GALLERY INVESTMENT A/C> 1,350,000 6.80 
WILKES HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,333,334 6.72 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 1,124,999 5.67 
MRS MARGARET ANNE DOWNES 700,000 3.53 
MADEIRA NOMINEES PTY LTD 683,334 3.44 
MR DANIEL CORREIA <THE DANS A/C> 670,000 3.37 
MR EMMANUEL CORREIA 566,667 2.85 
MR SHANE ANTHONY HARTWIG 500,000 2.52 
LITTLE BREAKAWAY PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
MAC EQUITY PARTNERS PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
P G HOWARTH PTY LTD 426,618 2.15 
JALONEX INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
TRANSOCEAN SECURITIES PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
JJ HOLDINGS (VIC) PTY LTD <SUMMERLEA S/FUND A/C> 400,000 2.01 
MOOSEHEAD PTY LIMITED 300,000 1.51 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 283,335 1.43 
NUMBER 7 INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C> 250,000 1.26 
JOHN DENOON AND ASSOCIATES PTY LTD 212,976 1.07 
Total 15,706,262 79.10 
Remainder 4,149,643 20.90 
Grand Total 19,855,905 100.00 
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 Twenty largest holders of quoted options 
 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
 Number % 
ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS A/C> 2,655,000 13.37 
CANGU PTY LTD <CANGU FAMILY A/C> 2,399,999 12.09 
MR KELVIN ROBERT SMITH <GALLERY INVESTMENT A/C> 1,350,000 6.80 
WILKES HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,333,334 6.72 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 1,124,999 5.67 
MRS MARGARET ANNE DOWNES 700,000 3.53 
MADEIRA NOMINEES PTY LTD 683,334 3.44 
MR DANIEL CORREIA <THE DANS A/C> 670,000 3.37 
MR EMMANUEL CORREIA 566,667 2.85 
MR SHANE ANTHONY HARTWIG 500,000 2.52 
LITTLE BREAKAWAY PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
MAC EQUITY PARTNERS PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
P G HOWARTH PTY LTD 426,618 2.15 
JALONEX INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
TRANSOCEAN SECURITIES PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
JJ HOLDINGS (VIC) PTY LTD <SUMMERLEA S/FUND A/C> 400,000 2.01 
MOOSEHEAD PTY LIMITED 300,000 1.51 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 283,335 1.43 
NUMBER 7 INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C> 250,000 1.26 
JOHN DENOON AND ASSOCIATES PTY LTD 212,976 1.07 
Total 15,706,262 79.10 
Remainder 4,149,643 20.90 
Grand Total 19,855,905 100.00 
 
ASX Confirmations and Waivers 
As disclosed in the Directors Report, during this financial year Forge obtained funding from Todd Capital 
Limited ("Todd") (a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Todd Corporation Limited) which enabled Forge to 
complete the purchase of Balla Balla from Atlas, and Forge Resources Swan Pty Ltd ("Forge Resources 
Swan") (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Forge) entered into an unincorporated joint venture with a related 
body corporate of Todd ("Todd JV Party") for the development of Balla Balla. In connection with these 
transactions Forge obtained from the ASX various waivers of, and confirmations regarding, certain ASX 
Listing Rules. These waivers and confirmations require Forge to disclose certain information in this annual 
report, as follows. 

1. Joint Venture Agreement 
Under a Joint Venture Agreement entered into between Forge Resources Swan and Todd JV Party, 
the Balla Balla project is to be operated as an unincorporated joint venture with Forge Resources 
Swan having an initial (and current) 75% interest and Todd JV Party having an initial (and current) 
25% interest. 
 
The Joint Venture Agreement contemplates various circumstances in which one joint venturer 
might transfer all or part of their joint venture interest to the other. In summary, these 
circumstances include as follows (based on a 2 party joint venture scenario). 

(a) Change of control or less than minimum interest 
Where a joint venturer ceases to be a subsidiary of its ultimate holding company or has less 
than a 7.5% interest in the joint venture (in each case the "First Party"), the other joint 
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venturer ("Other Party") may by notice to the First Party and the joint venture manager 
cause the First Party to make a deemed offer to sell its entire interest in the joint venture to 
the Other Party. 
 
The purchase price for the First Party's joint venture interest will be a fair market price as 
determined by an independent expert (such expert to be one nominated by the Institute of 
Arbitrators & Mediators Australia), unless the circumstances of the transaction are such 
that none of ASX Listing Rule 10.1, 11.1.2 or 11.2 has any potential application (in which 
case the price will be a fair market price agreed between the parties, with expert 
determination only required if the parties cannot agree the price within 30 days after the 
deemed sale offer is made). The Other Party has 60 days, from the date the purchase price 
has been agreed or determined, within which to accept the offer. Completion is to occur 
within 60 days after acceptance. 
 
In circumstances where Forge or a related body corporate of Forge receives a deemed sale 
offer as per the above and ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the acceptance of that deemed 
sale offer by the relevant Forge entity, it will not be entitled (or obliged) to accept the 
relevant offer unless Forge shareholders have approved the enforcement in accordance 
with that ASX Listing Rule. 
 

(b) Default 
If a joint venturer has not paid any monies it is required to pay under the Joint Venture 
Agreement within 14 days of the due date ("Defaulting Party"), the other joint venturer 
("Non-Defaulting Party") may by notice to the Defaulting Party and the joint venture 
manager state that it wishes to purchase all (but not some only) of the Defaulting Party's 
interest in the joint venture (a "Buy-Out Election"). Where a Non-Defaulting Party makes a 
Buy-Out Election, it cannot enforce its charge under the Cross Security Deed (that 
document is summarised in section 11.5 of Forge's notice of general meeting dated 24 April 
2012) unless the Defaulting Party suffers an insolvency event. 
 
The purchase price for the First Party's joint venture interest will be a fair market price as 
determined by an independent expert (such expert to be one nominated by the Institute of 
Arbitrators & Mediators Australia), unless the circumstances of the transaction are such 
that none of ASX Listing Rule 10.1, 11.1.2 or 11.2 has any potential application (in which 
case the price will be a fair market price agreed between the parties, with expert 
determination only required if the parties cannot agree the price within 14 days after the 
Buy-Out Election is made). 
 
In circumstances where Forge or a related body corporate of Forge is the Non-Defaulting 
Party and ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the enforcement of a Buy-Out Election by the 
relevant Forge entity, it will not be entitled to enforce a Buy-Out Election unless Forge 
shareholders have approved the enforcement in accordance with that ASX Listing Rule. 
 

(c) Sole risk proposal - buy-in right 
The Joint Venture Agreement contains a regime whereby one joint venturer can elect to 
develop and mine a deposit on a sole-risk basis if the joint venturers cannot agree that the 
joint venture will develop and mine such deposit. 
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DATO FRANKY G E CHUA 400,000 0.50 
P G HOWARTH PTY LTD 400,000 0.50 
Total 64,431,907 79.96 
Remainder 16,145.760 20.04 
 
Grand Total 
 

80,577,667 100.00 

 Twenty largest holders of quoted options 
 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 
 Number % 
ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <ENCOUNTER INVESTMENTS A/C> 2,655,000 13.37 
CANGU PTY LTD <CANGU FAMILY A/C> 2,399,999 12.09 
MR KELVIN ROBERT SMITH <GALLERY INVESTMENT A/C> 1,350,000 6.80 
WILKES HOLDINGS PTY LTD 1,333,334 6.72 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 1,124,999 5.67 
MRS MARGARET ANNE DOWNES 700,000 3.53 
MADEIRA NOMINEES PTY LTD 683,334 3.44 
MR DANIEL CORREIA <THE DANS A/C> 670,000 3.37 
MR EMMANUEL CORREIA 566,667 2.85 
MR SHANE ANTHONY HARTWIG 500,000 2.52 
LITTLE BREAKAWAY PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
MAC EQUITY PARTNERS PTY LTD 500,000 2.52 
P G HOWARTH PTY LTD 426,618 2.15 
JALONEX INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
TRANSOCEAN SECURITIES PTY LTD 425,000 2.14 
JJ HOLDINGS (VIC) PTY LTD <SUMMERLEA S/FUND A/C> 400,000 2.01 
MOOSEHEAD PTY LIMITED 300,000 1.51 
GEBA PTY LTD <GEBA FAMILY A/C> 283,335 1.43 
NUMBER 7 INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SUPERANNUATION FUND A/C> 250,000 1.26 
JOHN DENOON AND ASSOCIATES PTY LTD 212,976 1.07 
Total 15,706,262 79.10 
Remainder 4,149,643 20.90 
Grand Total 19,855,905 100.00 
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venturer ("Other Party") may by notice to the First Party and the joint venture manager 
cause the First Party to make a deemed offer to sell its entire interest in the joint venture to 
the Other Party. 
 
The purchase price for the First Party's joint venture interest will be a fair market price as 
determined by an independent expert (such expert to be one nominated by the Institute of 
Arbitrators & Mediators Australia), unless the circumstances of the transaction are such 
that none of ASX Listing Rule 10.1, 11.1.2 or 11.2 has any potential application (in which 
case the price will be a fair market price agreed between the parties, with expert 
determination only required if the parties cannot agree the price within 30 days after the 
deemed sale offer is made). The Other Party has 60 days, from the date the purchase price 
has been agreed or determined, within which to accept the offer. Completion is to occur 
within 60 days after acceptance. 
 
In circumstances where Forge or a related body corporate of Forge receives a deemed sale 
offer as per the above and ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the acceptance of that deemed 
sale offer by the relevant Forge entity, it will not be entitled (or obliged) to accept the 
relevant offer unless Forge shareholders have approved the enforcement in accordance 
with that ASX Listing Rule. 
 

(b) Default 
If a joint venturer has not paid any monies it is required to pay under the Joint Venture 
Agreement within 14 days of the due date ("Defaulting Party"), the other joint venturer 
("Non-Defaulting Party") may by notice to the Defaulting Party and the joint venture 
manager state that it wishes to purchase all (but not some only) of the Defaulting Party's 
interest in the joint venture (a "Buy-Out Election"). Where a Non-Defaulting Party makes a 
Buy-Out Election, it cannot enforce its charge under the Cross Security Deed (that 
document is summarised in section 11.5 of Forge's notice of general meeting dated 24 April 
2012) unless the Defaulting Party suffers an insolvency event. 
 
The purchase price for the First Party's joint venture interest will be a fair market price as 
determined by an independent expert (such expert to be one nominated by the Institute of 
Arbitrators & Mediators Australia), unless the circumstances of the transaction are such 
that none of ASX Listing Rule 10.1, 11.1.2 or 11.2 has any potential application (in which 
case the price will be a fair market price agreed between the parties, with expert 
determination only required if the parties cannot agree the price within 14 days after the 
Buy-Out Election is made). 
 
In circumstances where Forge or a related body corporate of Forge is the Non-Defaulting 
Party and ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the enforcement of a Buy-Out Election by the 
relevant Forge entity, it will not be entitled to enforce a Buy-Out Election unless Forge 
shareholders have approved the enforcement in accordance with that ASX Listing Rule. 
 

(c) Sole risk proposal - buy-in right 
The Joint Venture Agreement contains a regime whereby one joint venturer can elect to 
develop and mine a deposit on a sole-risk basis if the joint venturers cannot agree that the 
joint venture will develop and mine such deposit. 
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Where a sole risk operation is undertaken, the non-participating joint venturer can elect to 
participate in the sole risk operation by purchasing an interest in the operation which is 
equal to the joint venturer's then percentage interest in the joint venture (a "re-buy 
interest"). The purchase consideration will be a cash amount equal to three times the 
amount of the non-participating joint venturer's percentage share (based on its percentage 
interest in the joint venture) of all costs and expenses incurred by the sole risking joint 
venturer up to the date of the other joint venturer's purchase election. 
 
A Forge entity (ie. Forge or a related body corporate of Forge) which is the non-
participating joint venturer may not elect to purchase a re-buy interest in circumstances 
where ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the relevant purchase unless Forge shareholders 
have approved the transaction in accordance with that ASX Listing Rule.  
 

2. Joint Venture Option Agreement 
Under a Joint Venture Option Agreement entered into between Forge Resources Swan and Todd JV Party, 
Todd JV Party has an option to acquire an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla joint venture from 
Forge Resources Swan.  
 
The Joint Venture Option Agreement are summarised in Note 14(b) to the financial statements in this 
annual report. In addition to that summary, the following aspects of the Joint Venture Option Agreement 
should be noted. 

• The 'completion date' of the option will be the later of the date of first drawdown of project 
finance and satisfaction of completion conditions (ie. receipt of any required regulatory 
approvals) (provided that if any completion conditions are not satisfied within 30 days after 
the drawdown date then either party can elect to not proceed with completion). 

• If the option is exercised and project finance funds are not drawndown within 4 months 
after the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies Todd JV Party of a project finance term 
sheet, then Forge may cancel the transfer of the 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla joint 
venture. Todd JV Party may again exercise the option during any subsequent exercise 
period. 
 

3. Top-up right 

Under a Master Agreement that has been entered into between Forge and Todd Capital, there is a share 
top-up right regime under which the Todd group (being Todd Capital and its related bodies corporate) has, 
for the duration of the Joint Venture Agreement (referred to in section 1 above), a right to subscribe for 
additional Forge ordinary shares ("Forge shares") to maintain the Todd group's shareholding percentage in 
Forge if Forge issues additional shares to third parties other than in certain circumstances (eg. pursuant to a 
pro rata entitlement offer, pursuant to the exercise of existing options, or pursuant to the terms of an 
employee incentive plan which has been unanimously approved by directors). Generally speaking, the 
Forge shares will be issued to the Todd group at the same price as they have been issued to the relevant 
third party. 

 

The issue of top-up shares is subject to all necessary regulatory approvals (including FIRB approval) and 
Forge shareholder approvals being obtained. The top-up right will apply for so long as the Todd group holds 
at least 10% of the Forge shares. 
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Where a sole risk operation is undertaken, the non-participating joint venturer can elect to 
participate in the sole risk operation by purchasing an interest in the operation which is 
equal to the joint venturer's then percentage interest in the joint venture (a "re-buy 
interest"). The purchase consideration will be a cash amount equal to three times the 
amount of the non-participating joint venturer's percentage share (based on its percentage 
interest in the joint venture) of all costs and expenses incurred by the sole risking joint 
venturer up to the date of the other joint venturer's purchase election. 
 
A Forge entity (ie. Forge or a related body corporate of Forge) which is the non-
participating joint venturer may not elect to purchase a re-buy interest in circumstances 
where ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the relevant purchase unless Forge shareholders 
have approved the transaction in accordance with that ASX Listing Rule.  
 

2. Joint Venture Option Agreement 
Under a Joint Venture Option Agreement entered into between Forge Resources Swan and Todd JV Party, 
Todd JV Party has an option to acquire an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla joint venture from 
Forge Resources Swan.  
 
The Joint Venture Option Agreement are summarised in Note 14(b) to the financial statements in this 
annual report. In addition to that summary, the following aspects of the Joint Venture Option Agreement 
should be noted. 

• The 'completion date' of the option will be the later of the date of first drawdown of project 
finance and satisfaction of completion conditions (ie. receipt of any required regulatory 
approvals) (provided that if any completion conditions are not satisfied within 30 days after 
the drawdown date then either party can elect to not proceed with completion). 

• If the option is exercised and project finance funds are not drawndown within 4 months 
after the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies Todd JV Party of a project finance term 
sheet, then Forge may cancel the transfer of the 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla joint 
venture. Todd JV Party may again exercise the option during any subsequent exercise 
period. 
 

3. Top-up right 

Under a Master Agreement that has been entered into between Forge and Todd Capital, there is a share 
top-up right regime under which the Todd group (being Todd Capital and its related bodies corporate) has, 
for the duration of the Joint Venture Agreement (referred to in section 1 above), a right to subscribe for 
additional Forge ordinary shares ("Forge shares") to maintain the Todd group's shareholding percentage in 
Forge if Forge issues additional shares to third parties other than in certain circumstances (eg. pursuant to a 
pro rata entitlement offer, pursuant to the exercise of existing options, or pursuant to the terms of an 
employee incentive plan which has been unanimously approved by directors). Generally speaking, the 
Forge shares will be issued to the Todd group at the same price as they have been issued to the relevant 
third party. 

 

The issue of top-up shares is subject to all necessary regulatory approvals (including FIRB approval) and 
Forge shareholder approvals being obtained. The top-up right will apply for so long as the Todd group holds 
at least 10% of the Forge shares. 
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venturer ("Other Party") may by notice to the First Party and the joint venture manager 
cause the First Party to make a deemed offer to sell its entire interest in the joint venture to 
the Other Party. 
 
The purchase price for the First Party's joint venture interest will be a fair market price as 
determined by an independent expert (such expert to be one nominated by the Institute of 
Arbitrators & Mediators Australia), unless the circumstances of the transaction are such 
that none of ASX Listing Rule 10.1, 11.1.2 or 11.2 has any potential application (in which 
case the price will be a fair market price agreed between the parties, with expert 
determination only required if the parties cannot agree the price within 30 days after the 
deemed sale offer is made). The Other Party has 60 days, from the date the purchase price 
has been agreed or determined, within which to accept the offer. Completion is to occur 
within 60 days after acceptance. 
 
In circumstances where Forge or a related body corporate of Forge receives a deemed sale 
offer as per the above and ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the acceptance of that deemed 
sale offer by the relevant Forge entity, it will not be entitled (or obliged) to accept the 
relevant offer unless Forge shareholders have approved the enforcement in accordance 
with that ASX Listing Rule. 
 

(b) Default 
If a joint venturer has not paid any monies it is required to pay under the Joint Venture 
Agreement within 14 days of the due date ("Defaulting Party"), the other joint venturer 
("Non-Defaulting Party") may by notice to the Defaulting Party and the joint venture 
manager state that it wishes to purchase all (but not some only) of the Defaulting Party's 
interest in the joint venture (a "Buy-Out Election"). Where a Non-Defaulting Party makes a 
Buy-Out Election, it cannot enforce its charge under the Cross Security Deed (that 
document is summarised in section 11.5 of Forge's notice of general meeting dated 24 April 
2012) unless the Defaulting Party suffers an insolvency event. 
 
The purchase price for the First Party's joint venture interest will be a fair market price as 
determined by an independent expert (such expert to be one nominated by the Institute of 
Arbitrators & Mediators Australia), unless the circumstances of the transaction are such 
that none of ASX Listing Rule 10.1, 11.1.2 or 11.2 has any potential application (in which 
case the price will be a fair market price agreed between the parties, with expert 
determination only required if the parties cannot agree the price within 14 days after the 
Buy-Out Election is made). 
 
In circumstances where Forge or a related body corporate of Forge is the Non-Defaulting 
Party and ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the enforcement of a Buy-Out Election by the 
relevant Forge entity, it will not be entitled to enforce a Buy-Out Election unless Forge 
shareholders have approved the enforcement in accordance with that ASX Listing Rule. 
 

(c) Sole risk proposal - buy-in right 
The Joint Venture Agreement contains a regime whereby one joint venturer can elect to 
develop and mine a deposit on a sole-risk basis if the joint venturers cannot agree that the 
joint venture will develop and mine such deposit. 
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Where a sole risk operation is undertaken, the non-participating joint venturer can elect to 
participate in the sole risk operation by purchasing an interest in the operation which is 
equal to the joint venturer's then percentage interest in the joint venture (a "re-buy 
interest"). The purchase consideration will be a cash amount equal to three times the 
amount of the non-participating joint venturer's percentage share (based on its percentage 
interest in the joint venture) of all costs and expenses incurred by the sole risking joint 
venturer up to the date of the other joint venturer's purchase election. 
 
A Forge entity (ie. Forge or a related body corporate of Forge) which is the non-
participating joint venturer may not elect to purchase a re-buy interest in circumstances 
where ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 applies to the relevant purchase unless Forge shareholders 
have approved the transaction in accordance with that ASX Listing Rule.  
 

2. Joint Venture Option Agreement 
Under a Joint Venture Option Agreement entered into between Forge Resources Swan and Todd JV Party, 
Todd JV Party has an option to acquire an additional 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla joint venture from 
Forge Resources Swan.  
 
The Joint Venture Option Agreement are summarised in Note 14(b) to the financial statements in this 
annual report. In addition to that summary, the following aspects of the Joint Venture Option Agreement 
should be noted. 

• The 'completion date' of the option will be the later of the date of first drawdown of project 
finance and satisfaction of completion conditions (ie. receipt of any required regulatory 
approvals) (provided that if any completion conditions are not satisfied within 30 days after 
the drawdown date then either party can elect to not proceed with completion). 

• If the option is exercised and project finance funds are not drawndown within 4 months 
after the date that Forge Resources Swan notifies Todd JV Party of a project finance term 
sheet, then Forge may cancel the transfer of the 7.5% interest in the Balla Balla joint 
venture. Todd JV Party may again exercise the option during any subsequent exercise 
period. 
 

3. Top-up right 

Under a Master Agreement that has been entered into between Forge and Todd Capital, there is a share 
top-up right regime under which the Todd group (being Todd Capital and its related bodies corporate) has, 
for the duration of the Joint Venture Agreement (referred to in section 1 above), a right to subscribe for 
additional Forge ordinary shares ("Forge shares") to maintain the Todd group's shareholding percentage in 
Forge if Forge issues additional shares to third parties other than in certain circumstances (eg. pursuant to a 
pro rata entitlement offer, pursuant to the exercise of existing options, or pursuant to the terms of an 
employee incentive plan which has been unanimously approved by directors). Generally speaking, the 
Forge shares will be issued to the Todd group at the same price as they have been issued to the relevant 
third party. 

 

The issue of top-up shares is subject to all necessary regulatory approvals (including FIRB approval) and 
Forge shareholder approvals being obtained. The top-up right will apply for so long as the Todd group holds 
at least 10% of the Forge shares. 
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comPetent PerSonS Statement – weSt eucla ProJect
The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves is based on information 
compiled by Paul Benson, who is a member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Paul Benson is a consultant 
to Forge Resources Ltd. Paul Benson has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposits 
under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition 
of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Paul Benson consents 
to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.

comPetent PerSonS Statement – nSw ProJectS
The review of NSW exploration activities and results contained in this report is based on information compiled by Mr. M Rampe, 
a director of Harvest Exploration Pty Ltd and a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. He has sufficient 
experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and types of deposits under consideration and to the activity which he 
is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the December 2004 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting 
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the JORC Code). Mr. Rampe consents to the inclusion of this 
information in the form and context in which it appears in this report.

comPetent PerSonS Statement – Balla Balla ProJect 
note on reSource eStimateS:
The Resource estimate for the Balla Balla Western, Central/Extension and East Block B deposits are sourced from Golder 
Associates report reference 087641039001 LRev2 dated 5 August 2009 and are contained within Domain 1 (main Fe zone 
modelled at 35% Fe cut-off) and Domain 7 (modelled at 0.85% V2O5 cutoff) combined. Resource estimates for the Balla Balla 
Far Western Area are sourced from Golder Associates report reference 087641039007 L Rev 1 dated 8 December 2008 and 
are contained within Domain 1.1 (lower main Fe zone) and Domain 1.2 (upper main Fe zone), both modelled a t35% Fe cut-off. 
For all deposits, tonnage estimations are reported at a cut-off grade of 0.001% Fe within the modelled domains. The Fe resource 
includes in-situ Fe-bearing minerals that are not amenable to magnetic recovery. Magnetic recovery factors or assumptions have 
not been applied to these Mineral Resources.

In August 2009, Aurox reported an increase to Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources of the Western and Central East 
Pit areas of the Balla Balla magnetite deposit. In December 2008, Aurox upgraded the Balla Balla Far West area Resources 
from 100% Inferred to Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resources. The information in this document that relates to Minerals 
Resources is based on information compiled by Matthew Chinn who is a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy. Matthew Chinn is a consultant of Atlas Iron Ltd. Matthew Chinn has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style 
of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity that he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and 
Ore Reserves. Matthew Chinn consents to the inclusion in this report of matters based on this information in the form and 
context in which it appears.

noteS on reServe eStimateS:
The Balla Balla Reserves are defined at a 35% Fe cut-off grade. The figures in this report refer to fresh ore only, no oxide material 
is included. The Balla Balla Ore Reserves in this document were estimated by Mr Steve Craig, a member of the Australian Institute 
of Mining and Metallurgy and a full-time employee of Orelogy Pty Ltd, who has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style 
of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking to qualify as a Competent 
Person as defined in the Australasian Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Steve 
Craig consents to the inclusion in this document of the above Resource information in the form and context in which it appears.
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